Influence of Stem Design on Total Hip Arthroplasty

Clinical and radiological assessment based on randomized controlled trials and register data

Karin Rilby

Department of Orthopaedics Institute of Clinical Sciences Sahlgrenska Academy, University of Gothenburg



UNIVERSITY OF GOTHENBURG

Gothenburg 2024

Cover illustration: Pontus Andersson, Pontus Art Production

© 2024 Karin.rilby@vgregion.se

ISBN 978-91-8069-689-0 (PRINT) ISBN 978-91-8069-690-6 (PDF)

Printed in Borås, Sweden 2024 Printed by Stema Specialtryck AB



Det är konstigt med mig. Jag kan så mycket!

Ur "Visst kan Lotta nästan allting" av Astrid Lindgren

ABSTRACT

Since the 1960s, total hip arthroplasty has revolutionized the care of patients with end-stage osteoarthritis. Results after surgery using contemporary implants are usually good. Nevertheless, new implants are constantly being developed and introduced to the market. In recent years, there has been a trend towards shorter femoral implants, to save proximal bone and thereby facilitate any future revision surgery.

This thesis aimed to evaluate three different stem design, comparing them with a reference stem (Papers I–III). In Paper IV, register data were used to study and compare survival rates and first-time revisions of short stems versus stems of standard length.

Small differences in outcome were found between implants as regards patient-reported outcome measures and migration as seen through radiostereometric analysis. In contrast to the aim of the design, two of the studied implants had more pronounced loss of proximal bone stock. In Paper IV, the short stems showed survival rates equalling those of standard stems. In first-time revisions, short stems were, more frequently than standard stems, exchanged with stems of standard length as opposed to longer revision stems.

In conclusion, there were small differences in outcome between the implant designs studied and reference stems. Two of the studied stems were associated with increased loss of proximal bone density, this stands in contrast to the aim of the design. However, if revision becomes necessary, a short stem seems to allow for replacement with a stem of standard length, which may be advantageous in younger patients with risk of repeated revision surgery.

Keywords: total hip arthroplasty, radiostereometric analysis, patient-reported outcomes, bone mineral density loss, revision

ISBN 978-91-8069-689-0 (PRINT) ISBN 978-91-8069-690-6 (PDF)

SAMMANFATTNING PÅ SVENSKA

Höftproteskirurgi har ansetts vara en av de mest framgångsrika ortopediska operationerna som presenterats under 1900-talet. Majoriteten av patienterna med höftartros upplever minskad smärta samt förbättringar i rörelseomfång och livskvalitet. Sedan introduktionen av höftproteser på 1960-talet har en mängd nya typer av implantat introducerats och även återkallats från marknaden. De implantat som idag används har en bevisat lång överlevnad och goda kliniska resultat. Trots detta introduceras ständigt nya implantat på marknaden. Det är av största vikt att dessa har lika bra eller bättre resultat än de implantat som redan används. Nya implantat kan också ha andra egenskaper som gör dem överlägsna redan förekommande implantat. I denna avhandling utvärderas endast implantat avsedda för lårbenet, så kallade stammar. Alla stammar som har utvärderats är fixerade utan användning av bencement, ocementerad fixation. Under de senaste åren har det funnits en trend att göra stammarna kortare, detta i syfte att spara benmassa i lårbenet samt att förenkla en eventuell framtida omoperation. De korta implantaten är i dagsläget inte väl utvärderade varken i kliniska studier eller i registerbaserade studier. Trots detta används de allt oftare.

Den här avhandlingen har utvärderat tre typer av implantat i randomiserade kontrollerade studier, där vi jämfört dem med välbeprövade implantat som har dokumenterat goda långtidsresultat i nationella protesregister. Både kliniska och radiologiska utfall har registrerats och utvärderats.

I Studie I jämfördes en anatomisk stamdesign (SP-CL) med en vanligt förekommande stam (Corail). Primärt utfallsmått var patientrapporterad funktion vid 2 år. Sekundära utfallsmått var mikrorörelser, bentäthet och radiologiska förändringar på sedvanliga röntgenundersökningar. Ingen statistisk signifikant skillnad kunde ses mellan implantaten, förutom att SP-CL var kopplat till förlust av mer benmassa i de övre delarna av lårbenet. Denna skillnad var statistiskt signifikant. I Studie II jämfördes en kort stam, CFP, med Corail. Målet med CFP är att bevara så mycket benmassa i de övre delarna av lårbenet som möjligt. Studien hade ett liknande upplägg som Studie I. I den kliniska utvärderingen syntes ingen skillnad mellan implantaten; båda grupper rapporterade god funktion med höga poäng i olika utfallsmått. Radiologiskt syntes små skillnader mellan implantaten. Det fanns en statiskt signifikant skillnad i förlust av benmassa i de övre delarna av lårbenet, där CFP var kopplat till större förlust av benmassa än Corail. Detta trots att målet med stamdesignen är att spara benmassa.

I Studie III opererades patienter bilateralt vid samma operationstillfälle med två olika implantat. Stammen som studerades var Fitmore-stammen, en kort stam med huvudsaklig metafysär förankring. CLS Spotorno användes som referensstam. Primärt utfallsmått var vilken höft som patienterna ansåg vara bäst vid 2 år. Ingen statistiskt signifikant skillnad kunde ses mellan implantaten även om fler patienter föredrog CLS-stammen. Radiologiskt kunde ingen skillnad noteras mellan implantaten. De hade liknande mönster av mikrorörelser och förändring av benmassa. Inte heller vid konventionell röntgenundersökning sågs någon skillnad.

I Studie IV studerades risken för omoperation av så kallade korta stammar med hjälp av registerdata. En jämförelsegrupp med patienter opererade med en protes av standardlängd valdes också ut. Risken för omoperation upp till 12 år efter den primära operationen beräknades såväl som risken för ytterligare omoperationer efter den första omoperationen. Vidare analyserades val av implantat vid omoperation av lårbenskomponenten och kategoriserades som standardlängd eller revisionslängd. Detta för att, om möjligt, bekräfta teorin att de korta stammarna sparar ben i den övre delen av lårbenet och därför är lättare att omoperera. I studien framkom ingen ökad risk för omoperation med de korta stammarna jämfört med stammar av standardlängd. Fler patienter med korta stammar omopererades med hjälp av en stam av standardlängd. Trots detta var risken för ytterligare omoperationer inte högre i den gruppen.

Sammanfattningsvis upptäcktes inga eller endast små skillnader i resultat som patientrapporterade utfall, stammigration, bentäthet och röntgenförändringar. Anmärkningsvärt är dock att två av de stammar vars design syftar till att bättre fördela belastningen i benvävnaden (SP-CL och CFP) var kopplade till större förlust av benmassa i de övre delarna av lårbenet. Detta talar för en motsatt effekt av dessa implantat. I den registerbaserade studien noterades att korta stammar i en högre utsträckning revideras med en standardstam vilket skulle kunna vara fördelaktigt, framför allt vid operation av yngre patienter.

LIST OF PAPERS

This thesis is based on the following studies, referred to in the text by their Roman numerals.

- I. Rilby, K., Nauclér E., Mohaddes, M., Kärrholm J., Similar outcome with a new anteverted or a straight standard stem: a randomized study of 72 total hip arthroplasties evaluated with clinical variables, radiostereometry, and DXA up to 2 years. *Acta Orthopaedica*. 2022; 93: 59-67.
- II. Rilby, K., Nauclér E., Mohaddes, M., Kärrholm J., No difference in outcome or migration but greater loss of bone mineral density with the Collum Femoris Preserving stem compared with the Corail stem: a randomized controlled trial with fiveyear follow-up. *The Bone & Joint Journal*. 2022; 104-B(5): 581-588.
- III. Rilby, K., Nauclér E., Mohaddes, M., Kärrholm J., Similar results after five years with the use of the Fitmore or the CLS femoral components. *The Bone & Joint Journal Open.* 2023; 4(5): 306-314.
- IV. Rilby, K., van Veghel M., Mohaddes M., van Steenbergen L., Lewis P., Kärrholm J., Schreurs W., Hannink G. Does choice of primary stem influence choice of revision stem? Evaluation of 591 first time femoral stem revisions in 16,258 primary short-stem Total Hip Arthroplasties (THA) and 32,515 matched standard-stem THAs from the Australian, Dutch and Swedish Arthroplasty Registers. In manuscript.

CONTENTS

| AE | BREVIATIO | ٧S | 2 |
|----|------------|--|----|
| 1 | PROLOGU | E | 7 |
| 2 | INTRODU | CTION | 9 |
| | 2.1 Total | hip arthroplasty | 9 |
| | 2.1.1 | Anatomy | 9 |
| | 2.1.2 | Epidemiology | 9 |
| | 2.1.3 | Uncemented stems | 12 |
| | 2.1.4 | Introduction of implants | 17 |
| | 2.1.5 | Aseptic loosening – reasons and outcome after revision surgery | 19 |
| | 2.2 Facto | rs influencing outcome after total hip arthroplasty | 21 |
| | 2.2.1 | Surgical factors | 21 |
| | 2.2.2 | Patient factors | 24 |
| | 2.3 Evalu | ation of total hip arthroplasty | 25 |
| | 2.3.1 | PROMs | 25 |
| | 2.3.2 | Radiological evaluation | 28 |
| | 2.3.3 | Pros and cons of register-based evaluation | 31 |
| | 2.4 Curre | nt gaps in knowledge | 32 |
| 3 | AIMS | | 35 |
| 4 | PATIENTS | AND METHODS | 37 |
| | 4.1 Clinic | al evaluation | 37 |
| | 4.1.1 | Hip-specific scores | 37 |
| | 4.1.2 | General health scores | 39 |
| | 4.2 Radio | ographic evaluation | 40 |

| 2 | 4.2.1 | Radiostereometric analysis (RSA) | 40 |
|-----|---------|---|----|
| 2 | 1.2.2 | Plain radiographs | 42 |
| Z | 4.2.3 | DXA | 42 |
| 4.3 | Paper l | l i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i | 46 |
| Z | 4.3.1 | General characteristics | 46 |
| 2 | 1.3.2 | Patient selection | 46 |
| 2 | 1.3.3 | Implants | 48 |
| Z | 1.3.4 | Follow-up protocol | 50 |
| 2 | 1.3.5 | Statistics | 51 |
| Z | 4.3.6 | Ethics and funding | 52 |
| 4.4 | Paper I | I | 53 |
| Z | 1.4.1 | General characteristics | 53 |
| 2 | 1.4.2 | Patient selection | 53 |
| 2 | 1.4.3 | Implants | 55 |
| Z | 1.4.4 | Follow-up protocol | 56 |
| 2 | 1.4.5 | Statistics | 58 |
| Z | 4.4.6 | Ethics and funding | 59 |
| 4.5 | Paper l | Ш | 60 |
| Z | 1.5.1 | General characteristics | 60 |
| Z | 1.5.2 | Patient selection | 60 |
| 2 | 1.5.3 | Implants | 62 |
| Z | 1.5.4 | Follow-up protocol | 64 |
| 2 | 4.5.5 | Statistics | 66 |
| Z | 4.5.6 | Ethics and funding | 66 |
| 4.6 | Paper l | V | 67 |
| 2 | 4.6.1 | General characteristics | 67 |
| Z | 1.6.2 | National arthroplasty registers | 67 |
| Z | 1.6.3 | Patients and implants | 69 |
| 2 | 1.6.4 | Statistics | 74 |
| 2 | 1.6.5 | Ethics and funding | 74 |
| | | | |

| 5.1 Pa | aper I | 77 |
|---------|--|-----|
| 5.1 | 1 Baseline demographics | 77 |
| 5.1 | 2 Clinical results | 78 |
| 5.1. | 3 Radiological results | 81 |
| 5.2 Pa | aper II | 87 |
| 5.2 | 1 Baseline demographics | 87 |
| 5.2 | 2 Clinical results | 88 |
| 5.2 | 3 Radiological results | 90 |
| 5.3 Pa | aper III | 98 |
| 5.3 | 1 Baseline demographics | 98 |
| 5.3 | 2 Clinical results | 99 |
| 5.3 | 3 Radiological results | 102 |
| 5.4 Pa | aper IV | 108 |
| 5.4 | 1 Baseline demographics | 108 |
| 5.4 | 2 Cumulative revision rates of primary THA | 110 |
| 5.4 | 3 First revision surgery | 112 |
| 5.4 | 4 Second revision surgery | 116 |
| 6 DISCU | SSION | 119 |
| 6.1 St | udies I, II and III | 119 |
| 6.1 | 1 PROMs | 119 |
| 6.1 | 2 Radiological outcomes | 121 |
| 6.1 | 3 Introduction of implants | 124 |
| 6.1 | 4 Limitations Studies I-III | 125 |
| 6.2 St | udy IV | 126 |
| 6.2 | 1 Revision rates | 126 |
| 6.2 | 2 Revision of short stems | 127 |
| 6.2. | 3 Limitations Study IV | 129 |
| 7 CONC | LUSION | 131 |

| 8 FUTURE PERSPECTIVES | 133 |
|-----------------------|-----|
| ACKNOWLEDGEMENT | 134 |
| REFERENCES | 139 |

ABBREVIATIONS

| AOANJRR | Australian Replacement | Orthopaedic Register | Association | National | Joint |
|--|-------------------------------|-------------------------|-------------|----------|-------|
| ASA American Society of Anaesthesiologic | | | | | |
| BMD | Bone Mineral Density | | | | |
| BMI | Body Mass Index | | | | |
| CCD angle | Caput Collum Diaphyseal angle | | | | |
| CFP | Collum Femoris Preserving | | | | |
| CI | Confidence Interval | | | | |
| CRR Cumulative Revision Rate | | | | | |
| DAA | Direct Anterior Approach | | | | |
| DXA Dual X-ray Abs | | bsorptiometry | | | |
| EQ-5D EuroQol 5 | | ol 5 Dimensions | | | |
| FJS Forgotten Joint Score | | | | | |
| HHS Harris Hip Score | | | | | |
| IQR InterQuartile Range | | | | | |
| LROI Landelijke Registratie Orthopedische Interventies | | enties | | | |
| MCID | Minimal Clini | ical Important D | Difference | | |
| MIC | Minimal Imp | ortant Change | | | |

| OHS | Oxford Hip Score |
|-------|-----------------------------------|
| PJI | Periprosthetic Joint Infection |
| PROM | Patient-Reported Outcome Measures |
| RCT | Randomised Controlled Trial |
| ROM | Range Of Motion |
| RSA | RadioStereometric Analysis |
| SAR | Swedish Arthroplasty Register |
| SP-CL | Status Physiologicus - CementLess |
| THA | Total Hip Arthroplasty |
| VAS | Visual Analogue Scale |

DEFINITIONS IN SHORT

| ASA Classification | Morbidity scale assessing patients' overall health prior to surgery, grading from I (healthy) to VI (organ donor). | | |
|---|--|--|--|
| Aseptic loosening | Implant failure due to continuous motions at the bone-implant interface without the presence of microbes. In National Registers more types of failures may be included. | | |
| Сир | Acetabular implant of the THA. | | |
| Dual energy X-ray Absorptiometry (DXA) | Radiologic method measuring bone mineral density and body composition. | | |
| National Arthroplasty register | Registries covering almost all arthroplasty operations in a specific country. | | |
| Revision surgery | A new surgical intervention where any part of the implant was removed or exchanged. | | |
| RadioStereometric Analysis | Radiologic method measuring micromovements between e.g. implant components and bone. | | |
| Stem | Femoral component of the THA. | | |



1 PROLOGUE

Throughout my professional career, my focus has been to provide highquality care to patients crossing my path. I've considered myself a clinician first – research being too tedious and slow.

In the last four years, my opinion has changed. Not only do I now consider myself a researcher (in her infancy), but I have also realised that through science I can help provide high-quality care to patients who do not cross my path. The studies in this thesis, along with future projects, might change the care of patients for the better. And it is a scientist's responsibility, together with the manufacturers, to ensure the safe introduction of new implants.

Therefore, I'm truly glad that Johan Kärrholm asked me in the winter of 2020 if I wanted to write a thesis, not mentioning how much of my hair that would turn grey during the process. However, I'm glad that I took the bait.

And now, here we are – four years later, the thesis is finished. Or, as I see it, my work has only just started.



2 INTRODUCTION

2.1 TOTAL HIP ARTHROPLASTY

Humans have always been at risk of hip osteoarthritis. Several attempts have been made throughout history to restore hip anatomy and function. Until the early 1960s, clinical results were generally poor. In 1961, Sir John Charnley first introduced low-friction arthroplasty, revolutionizing the treatment of end-stage hip arthrosis. (1) Since then, many types of implants have been introduced – and many have been withdrawn from the market. Total hip arthroplasty (THA) has been called the surgery of the century due to its cost effectiveness and good long-term results. (2) Contemporary implants often show survival rates exceeding 95% at 10 years. Many patients who were formerly doomed to a crippled and painful life can now have almost normal joint function without pain.

2.1.1 ANATOMY

A THA requires two implants fixed in bone: the stem and the cup. The stem is fixed in the femur, whereas the cup is fixed in the acetabulum. Together, the implants make up the artificial joint. Fixation can be achieved either using bone cement or by direct fixation to bone (osseointegration) without use of cement (uncemented). This thesis will focus on uncemented stems.

Most contemporary stem designs are modular with several different options in sizes, caput-collum-diaphyseal (CCD) angle, neck length, offset and sometimes femoral component curvature, to enable restoration of the patient's individual anatomy (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Stems in different sizes, CCD-angles, and off-set.

2.2 EPIDEMIOLOGY

In 2022, a total of 18,339 primary elective THAs were performed in Sweden. The median patient age was 69 years and more women (57.2%) than men underwent surgery. (3) Approximately 30% of the patients (all ages) receive an all uncemented THA (both cup and stem); the distribution differs substantially between age groups. For patients younger than 65 years of age,

uncemented THAs are most common. Among the youngest patients (< 45 years), uncemented THAs dominate completely **(Figure 2)**.



Figure 2. Distribution of stem fixation based on age. Data from the SAR.

Thanks to improvements in surgical technique, better implants and materials, the survival of THAs has improved over the years. Several national arthroplasty registries report the risk for revision (all reasons) at 10 years to be approximately 5% for uncemented stems. (4-6)

Today, patients live longer and have higher expectations of physical activity than in the past. This has led to a sharp rise in demand for THA. Also,

overweight and obesity have increased in the last decades, leading to a higher incidence of osteoarthritis, which further increases the need for THA. (7-9)

Due to surgical improvements and excellent results, more younger patients are assessed as eligible for THA. Even if several studies report excellent surgery outcomes in younger patients, the risk of revision is larger in this population due to higher levels of activity and longer life expectancy. (10-14)

2.2.1 UNCEMENTED STEMS

2.2.1.1 CLASSIFICATION

In 2011, Khanuja et al. (15) proposed a classification system for uncemented stems based on implant shape. In 2020, Kheir et al. upgraded this classification with an additional category. (16) The classification now includes 7 categories separated by appearance and length (Figure 3). The short stems (category 1) are divided into 4 subcategories depending on fixation and bone-sparing properties. Although there is no maximal length limit for the short stems, the majority are shorter than 120 mm, designed for proximal fixation above the diaphysis. The remaining six categories are different kinds of conventional stems. The stems examined in this thesis fall into category 1B (Fitmore, collum femoris-preserving (CFP)) and category 7 (Status Physiologicus Cementless (SP-CL)).



Figure 3. Categorization of uncemented stems according to Kheir. © The Trustees of Indiana University.

2.2.1.2 RATIONALE FOR FIXATION

Fixation of uncemented stems depends on osseointegration of the stem in the femoral canal. Osseointegration of titanium implants was first described in 1981 by Albrektsson. (17) For osseointegration to occur, the implant needs to be stable during the first months postoperatively. Continuous migration will lead to fibrous anchorage and higher risk of future loosening. A tight press-fit is also of importance to allow bone formation in the bone-implant interface. (18-20) Osseointegration can be achieved through either ongrowth or in-growth to the implant; the characteristics of the implant surface determine what type of fixation will occur (**Figure 4**). Most uncemented stems rely on on-growth. A rough surface is achieved through grit-blasting or plasma spraying. The roughness should be 3-5 μ m for optimal conditions. (21)



Figure 4. Osseointegration, by in-growth, into the porous surface of an acetabular implant. (22) <u>http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/</u> With permission from Thor Balkhed, Linköping University.

Osseointegration must occur circumferentially to prevent joint fluid with debris and particles from entering the femoral canal, which would result in osteolysis and aseptic loosening. (23, 24) In early designs of uncemented stems, a lack of rough or porous surface or non-circumferential coating likely contributed to less favourable results.

2.2.1.3 INFLUENCE ON BONE MINERAL DENSITY

According to Wolff's law, bone will adapt to the mechanical forces to which it is exposed. Bone that is not loaded will be resorbed, leading to a loss in bone mineral density (BMD) and, eventually, total disappearance. The part of the bone to which load is redistributed will increase in density. All orthopaedic implants will alter loading, leading to areas with decreased BMD; this phenomenon is known as stress shielding. For most THAs, load will pass through the proximal femur and increase in the diaphyseal area. A proximal loss of BMD will be seen and the femur will gain in BMD distally. (25) This corresponds to BMD loss in Gruen zones, 1, 6 and 7 and BMD gain in zones 2, 3, 4 and 5 (Figure 5).



Figure 5. Gruen zones in the frontal and lateral plane.

This pattern can be seen with many different stem designs. (26-28) The diameter and stiffness of the implant will influence the amount of loss. A stiffer implant will unload the proximal femur to a greater degree than an implant better mimicking the elasticity of the femur. (28-31) However, stem length seems to have limited influence on the pattern of BMD changes. (32-34)

Bone remodelling and loss of BMD will usually occur during the first months postoperatively but then stabilizes and further bone loss will often be at the same level as in the contralateral native hip. (35-37)

2.2.1.4 PROS AND CONS OF UNCEMENTED STEMS

Uncemented implants (both stems and cups) are gaining popularity globally. Operation times are shorter than for cemented implants, there are no risks for cementation-related adverse events and the implants are easy to handle. Due to these benefits, the majority of stems used for elective THAs are uncemented in many countries. (5, 6, 38, 39) Although results are very good in general, there are some drawbacks with uncemented stems compared with cemented designs.

Uncemented stems have a higher risk of revision surgery due to the higher risk of periprosthetic fractures in the early postoperative period. This is particularly true for elderly women, due to the higher incidence of osteoporosis or osteomalacia. (40) In order to obtain good initial fixation, adequate femoral bone stock is a prerequisite. (41) Leg-length discrepancy is also more common with uncemented stems than with cemented stems. (42)

2.2.2 INTRODUCTION OF IMPLANTS

Over time, numerous implants have been introduced to the market. In the 1990s, Malchau et al. proposed an algorithm for introducing implants. (43) This algorithm was to base introduction on the results of preclinical studies followed by randomized controlled trials (RCTs) where radiostereometric analysis (RSA) played a central part. If an implant had favourable results, a larger multi-centre trial could be performed before the implant was used in a wider setting. Post-market surveillance is achieved through continuous evaluation in national arthroplasty registries (Figure 6). This algorithm has

been supported by several other researchers when introducing new surgical techniques and is widely accepted. (44, 45)



Figure 6. Algorithm for introducing implants, Nelissen et al. 2011. (46)

Despite this, some implants have been introduced without proper evaluation. The large metal-on-metal surface replacements are one example where largescale usage occurred without proper prior testing. (47-49) A register-based study conducted in Australia showed no benefits with the newer design compared with established implants. On the contrary, the revision rates were higher with some newly introduced implants. (50) For the individual patient, the consequences might be disastrous, with multiple surgery and inferior results.

In 2021, new legislation on medical devices was adopted in the European Union. (51) This will hopefully encourage more standardised testing of medical devices and more controlled introduction of implants.

2.2.3 ASEPTIC LOOSENING – REASONS AND OUTCOME AFTER REVISION SURGERY

Aseptic loosening is one of the major reasons for revision surgery. In several national registries, it is the leading reason for revision. (3-6, 39) Reasons for aseptic loosening of the femoral implant are multifactorial and are probably a combination of patient- and implant-related factors. Micromotions continuing for 6 to 12 months after the operation will result in fibrous fixation with increased risk of clinical loosening. Low preoperative BMD indicating osteoporotic bone with few and thin bone trabeculae is one reason for failure to achieve sufficient implant stability. (41, 52) The risk of loosening may also be related to design factors such as implant shape and type of surface structure or coating. Use of proper surgical technique is also of importance. Malposition and under-sizing of the stem may jeopardize osseointegration, with increased risk of aseptic loosening. (53, 54) Medications, such as corticosteroids, and diseases like rheumatoid arthritis are other factors that affect bone remodelling and fracture healing, and may also increase the risk of aseptic loosening (52) (**Figure 7**).



Figure 7. Aseptic loosening of uncemented stem, 2 years after insertion, with radiolucent lines, distal welding spot and evident subsidence.

An initial instability of the implant may later become aggravated by debris and particles from the articulation surfaces which will infiltrate the bone implant interface creating an inflammatory response. This will drive bone remodelling in osteoclastic direction, which in turn hastens loosening and osteolysis.(55, 56) The outcome after revision surgery is known to be worse than after primary THA. (57, 58) The risks of infection, dislocation, second revision and mortality are also significantly higher than after primary THA. (59, 60)

2.3 FACTORS INFLUENCING OUTCOME AFTER TOTAL HIP ARTHROPLASTY

2.3.1 SURGICAL FACTORS

2.3.1.1 INCISION

All approaches to the hip joint have advantages and drawbacks. In Sweden, the two most common incisions are the direct lateral and posterior approaches. One or the other is used in 90% of all THA operations. (3) Globally, the direct anterior approach (DAA) is gaining in popularity, with increasing numbers in Europe and Australia. (61, 62)

With the direct lateral approach, the anterior third of the gluteus medius is detached from the femur and the joint is accessed from the anterior aspect. In the posterior approach, the external rotators and the joint capsule are released from the posterior aspect of the femur, after which the joint is accessed. Both incisions give good access to the acetabulum as well as the femoral canal. Historically, the posterior approach has been known for a higher risk of dislocation compared with the lateral approach. However, a recent register-based study found no difference in risk of revision due to dislocation between those two approaches in patients operated for osteoarthritis in Sweden after 2006. (63) With proper soft tissue repair and component positioning, the risk of revision due to dislocation seems to be the same for both approaches. The direct lateral approach is associated with more pain, less satisfaction but not with increased frequency of limp due to creating weakness in the abductor muscles. (64-66)

The DAA has gained in popularity in recent years due to its atraumatic access to the joint. The interval between tensor fascia lata and rectus femoris is identified and used for gaining access through the ventral capsule. No muscles need to be released and the joint is accessed from the anterior aspect. However, past studies have shown a steep learning curve for surgeons and a higher risk of early complications. (61, 67) Patients operated with DAA report better scores for patient-reported outcome measures (PROMs) during the first three months postoperatively compared to patients operated with a posterior approach, but the difference then levels out and becomes insignificant. (68-70)

2.3.1.2 HIGH-VOLUME CENTRES AND SURGEON EXPERIENCE

Few studies have explored the association between high-volume centres and functional outcomes. In the systematic review conducted by Malik et al. in 2018, (71) only two studies were found (72, 73). These dated back to the beginning of the century and the patients in the studies had been operated in the 1990s. It is unclear if the conclusions from these studies are still relevant. In these studies, no difference could be seen in outcome measured with PROMs between high-volume hospitals (> 100 operations annually) and hospitals with lower volumes. However, the complication rates seemed to correlate inversely with surgical volume, with hospitals and surgeons reporting higher volumes having fewer complications. (74-77)

The experience of the individual surgeon seems not to influence the clinical outcome of THA as measured with PROMs. Studies in which more experienced surgeons have been compared to surgeons in training reveal limited differences in revision rates and clinical outcomes. (78-81) In the registry-based study by Jolbäck et al. in 2018, patients operated by a senior surgeon were more satisfied at 1 year postoperatively than those operated by a trainee. No other PROMs recorded in the Swedish Arthroplasty Register (SAR) showed any difference depending on the experience of the surgeon. No evaluation of revision rates or adverse events was carried out in the study **(Figure 8)**.


Figure 8. Young surgeons have similar clinical outcome as more experienced ones.

2.3.2 PATIENT FACTORS

2.3.2.1 PREOPERATIVE MENTAL HEALTH AND OPIOID USE

Although results after THA surgery are generally good and most patients report excellent or good results, a subgroup of patients report inferior results. In a study based on data from the SAR, approximately 10% were not satisfied at 1 year post surgery. (82) In the last decade, the focus has shifted to preoperative mental health status in relation to postoperative outcome after THA. Evidence is growing that preoperative anxiety and depression result in less satisfied patients. (83-88) The exact mechanism for this is unknown, but preoperative mental status is important to acknowledge as a factor in patient satisfaction and pain relief after surgery.

Despite little evidence for opioids to be used in chronic arthritic pain, prescription still occur. (89) In a recent Swedish study, 18% of patients eligible for THA had > 4 prescriptions issued during the year prior to surgery. (90) In the US, a similar study showed that 39% of patients undergoing knee arthroplasty surgery were prescribed opioids for more than 3 months prior to surgery. (91) Preoperative opioid use is correlated with inferior outcome, higher periprosthetic joint infection and revision. (90, 92, 93) Opioid use also seems to be related to worse mental status preoperatively. (92) In a study on shoulder arthroplasty, opioid users improved their functional and pain scores in absolute numbers after surgery at approximately the same level as non-opioid users, but from a lower starting point. Hence, they never reach the same function or pain relief as non-opioid users. (94) Although this was a study on shoulder arthroplasty, the same pattern could be true for hip arthroplasty as well.

2.3.2.2 DEMOGRAPHIC AND SOCIOECONOMIC FACTORS

Socioeconomic factors influence the results of many types of medical treatment, e.g., colon cancer and acute myocardial infarction. (95, 96) THA is no exception. Low socioeconomic status and low education level negatively influence pain and function. (97-99) Age and gender do not seem to affect functional outcome, although younger men have a higher risk of revision surgery. There is conflicting evidence on the influence of obesity and overweight. (100-102) It is not clear if body mass index (BMI) influences the patient reported outcome of THA, but patients with obesity have a higher risk of complications following surgery. (102)

2.4 EVALUATION OF TOTAL HIP ARTHROPLASTY

2.4.1 **PROMS**

2.4.1.1 GENERAL CHARACTERISTICS

Since the early 2000s, evaluation of THA has shifted from radiological and technical endpoints (such as migration or revision) to patient satisfaction. Numerous PROMs have been developed and are now generally included in national registries and clinical assessments of THA. (103) PROMs are often divided into subcategories measuring different aspects of health and joint function. Generic scales such as the 36-item Short Form Health Survey (SF-36) and the EuroQol 5 dimensions (EQ-5D) measure general health. Disease-specific scores, as the Oxford Hip Score (OHS) or the Forgotten Joint Score (FJS), measure function and pain in the affected joint. The use of symptom-

specific scoring, such as visual analogue scales (VAS) for pain and satisfaction, is also common. A combination of scores is often used, e.g., the SAR uses EQ-5D, the Hip dysfunction and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score, as well as VAS scores, to evaluate the effect of surgery on general health, pain and joint-specific function. (3, 103) Unsurprisingly, patients suffering from end-stage arthritis often score their general physical and mental health low and the majority report substantial improvement after a hip replacement. (82)

2.4.1.2 DEFINITIONS

A few different concepts are used for assessing the quality of PROMs. (104)

- Reliability: The degree to which the measurement is free from measurement error if the patient status does not change, neither should the score.
- Validity: The PROM should reflect the severity of the condition it is supposed to assess. Does the PROM measure what it supposed to?
- Responsiveness: A change in the PROM score should reflect an actual change in outcome.

There are various ways to report on improvement in PROMs; one important measurement to consider is the minimal clinical important difference (MCID). It is used for assessing change *between* two cohorts. It was first introduced in 1989 and is defined as the smallest difference in score which patients perceive as beneficial. (105) It is also important to acknowledge the Minimal Important Change (MIC) which is the minimum change in health status *within* a group or individuals over time. (106) The MCID and MIC varies between PROMs and is also dependent on population and diagnosis. It can be calculated in different ways (anchor-based or distribution-based); both methods have benefits and disadvantages. (106-108) Most MCIDs for PROMs used in evaluation of orthopaedic surgery in the lower extremities are calculated using anchor-based questions. (109) When analysing PROM results it is of most importance to know the MCID and MIC for the PROM used to interpret the results correctly. There might be statistically significant

differences both within and between groups but without meaningful clinical change.

Some joint-specific scores, such as the OHS or the Harris hip score (HHS), were not constructed for evaluation of outcomes, but rather for preoperative measurement of the severity of symptoms. Therefore, they suffer from ceiling effects, making it difficult to differentiate between good and excellent results. This is especially when evaluating young patients with high physical demands (110, 111) (Figure 9).



Figure 9. PROMs evaluate patients' perception on general health and joint function which may differ between age groups.

2.4.2 RADIOLOGICAL EVALUATION

2.4.2.1 RADIOSTEREOMETRIC ANALYSIS

The RSA method now considered standard was initially developed by Göran Selvik (1974). (112) During the 1980s and 1990s, RSA became the backbone of implant research and THA evaluation. It is known for its high precision, allowing evaluation of implants in small cohorts. (113)The theory behind the method is that the magnitude of migration during the first two years postoperatively may predict later aseptic loosening.(114, 115)

For closed-shaped cemented stems, there are clearly defined thresholds for acceptable initial migration. Migration above these thresholds is indicative of worse outcome and risk for revision. (114) In polished cemented stems, continuous migration is part of the design concept. (116) With uncemented stems, there are no defined thresholds for migration and the migration pattern differs between stems. (117) Even an excessive migration during the first months postoperatively can be followed by stabilization. (118) However, most uncemented stem design migrate only moderately during the first three months postoperatively, a process followed by stabilization. Evidence is mounting that initial migration can be accepted without jeopardizing long-term results. (34, 119-124)

When RSA was first developed, markers were used on implants to ensure reliable points of measurement. However, after attachment of markers, a new CE approval was necessary which increased the costs. Further, marking will weaken the implant, with increased risk of corrosion and subsequent implant fracture. To address this problem, more recent methods use computer-aided design models or mathematical algorithms based on implant geometry fitted to the image obtained. (125) The femoral head centre may also be used as a reference, resulting in an evaluation with high precision. (114, 126, 127) As an alternative, computer tomography-based examinations, which provides high precision, can be used. The use of this method is increasing, probably because it requires neither bone markers nor specific

calibration equipment and has a resolution of the same magnitude as markerbased RSA. (128-130)

2.4.2.2 DUAL ENERGY X-RAY ABSORPTIOMETRY/BONE MINERAL DENSITY LOSS

Dual energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) is used for evaluating BMD in the body. X-ray beams with different energies are used when scanning the patient. Software can calculate the density of different tissues in the body based on the differences in absorption. It is widely used for diagnosis of osteoporosis and is regarded as the gold standard for measuring BMD. (131) DXA has been proven to accurately measure BMD around THA, even in the presence of an implant. (132-134) To describe changes in BMD, results are correlated to the Gruen zones (**Figure 4**).

2.4.2.3 RADIOGRAPHIC EVALUATION

Plain radiographs (or X-ray pictures) have been used for evaluation since the introduction of THA. X-ray is a cheap and readily available technique used in everyday orthopaedic practice. The images are easy to interpret, and every orthopaedic surgeon can do a first assessment of the result.

Subsidence can be detected using plain radiographs, but the precision is low, and the subsidence must usually exceed 4 mm to be detectable. To precisely measure migration, more accurate methods must be used. (135, 136)

Radiolucent lines occur where there is no osseointegration between implant and bone. This may be due to a mismatch between metaphyseal and diaphyseal diameter leading to unloading of the proximal femur. (137) Widespread lines exceeding 50% of the total bone to implant interface indicate poor fixation and implant loosening. To describe the position of the radiolucent lines they are correlated to the Gruen zones, see **Figure 4**. However, isolated radiolucent lines in Gruen zones 7 and 8 do not seem to be related to clinical outcome.(138)

When THA alters the strain distribution in the femora, proximal bone is resorbed, whereas BMD is increased distally in the cortex. In X-ray pictures this can be seen as welding spots or thickening of the cortex (cortical hypertrophy). (139) However, there is little evidence that cortical hypertrophy affects clinical outcomes. (140, 141)

2.4.2.4 BIOMECHANICAL EVALUATION AND RETURN TO SPORTS

Although patients usually report good clinical outcomes, hip joint motions and moments do not return to normal after operation with a THA. Stride length and walking velocity are also negatively affected. (142, 143) The type of implant used for surgery does not seem to significantly influence gait pattern postoperatively. (144-146)

Many patients, especially younger ones, want to return to the same activity level as before onset of their osteoarthritis or as their peers. Return to sports is a loosely defined outcome, as the level of activity may vary greatly between different kinds of sporting activities. Younger males with higher activity levels before surgery seem to have a greater chance to return to sports than other groups, irrespective of the type of arthroplasty performed in the lower extremities. (147, 148)

2.4.3 PROS AND CONS OF REGISTER-BASED EVALUATION

National registries offer a unique opportunity to evaluate large numbers of patients. If implants exhibit high rates of rare adverse events, such as aseptic loosening, they can be detected thanks to the large numbers of patients. The registries also provide the opportunity to follow patients for a long period of time, often until death, making long-term follow-up possible. National registries play an important role in the evaluation of implants, revealing implants or surgical techniques with inferior results. (149, 150)

The downside of register-based research is the inability to go into detail for each individual patient. A patient may have a loose implant but only minor symptoms, not qualifying for revision surgery, may be too diseased for a procedure, or may not want to undergo further surgical interventions.

High coverage and completeness are important factors in addition to data validation. Missing or incorrectly reported data may skew the results and make interpretation difficult. (149)

2.5 CURRENT GAPS IN KNOWLEDGE

- Clinical and radiographic outcomes of new stem designs. Are they superior to existing stem designs? (Papers I–III)
- Does use of a short stem influence outcome after THA? (Papers II and III)
- What is the revision rate of short stems compared with that for stems of standard length? (Paper IV)
- Can short stems be safely revised using stems of standard length? (Paper IV)
- Have short stems beneficiaries over stems of standard length stems that can justify their use? (Paper II-IV)



3 AIMS

The specific aims of this thesis were the following.

- To investigate the clinical and radiological outcomes of a recently introduced anatomical uncemented stem and compare them with those of a well-evaluated reference stem. (Paper I)
- To compare the clinical and radiological outcomes of a short stem aiming to save proximal bone stock with those of a reference stem of standard length. (Paper II)
- To assess differences in clinical and radiological outcomes in patients bilaterally operated with one short stem and one reference stem of standard length. (Paper III)
- To establish cumulative revision rates and choice of implant in firsttime revisions of short stems and compare with those for stems of standard-length using data from three national hip arthroplasty registries. (Paper IV)



4 PATIENTS AND METHODS

Papers I, II and III were prospective randomized studies using similar methods, accounted for below. Study-specific methods and patient selection will be described under the subheading for each paper. Paper IV was a register-based study including patients from three different national arthroplasty registries.

4.1 CLINICAL EVALUATION

In Studies I–III, questionnaires were sent out by post by study nurses, to be filled in prior to the patient's visit to the outpatient clinic. The forms were collected by the physicians and returned to the study nurses. The Harris Hip Score (HHS) was filled out and completed during the visit.

4.1.1 HIP-SPECIFIC SCORES

4.1.1.1 OXFORD HIP SCORE (OHS)

The OHS consists of 12 questions assessing pain and functional outcome in hips both pre- and postoperatively. Originally, it was designed as a tool to be used prior to a decision on surgical treatment or not. Today, it is a well-established and validated instrument also used in the follow-up of THA. (151, 152) Each question is scored 0 to 4, where 4 is the best possible outcome and 0 is the worst. The answers are added up without any weighting. The best possible total score is 48 and the worst 0. The MCID has been estimated at 5 points. (106)

4.1.1.2 HARRIS HIP SCORE (HHS)

The HHS is a joint-specific evaluation tool consisting of four domains covering pain, function, absence of deformity and range of motion. The first two

domains encompass 8 questions on pain, walking ability and function. The other two domains are assessed by a physician examining deformities and range of motion (ROM). There is a fully patient-administered version where the patient self-assesses ROM and deformities. (153) In these studies, a clinician performed the physical examinations. The answers are weighted and added up in accordance with the test key. The best possible total score is 100, the worst is 0. The HHS was first introduced in 1969 and is today widely used for evaluation of THA. (154, 155) In recent years, questions have been raised on its usefulness due to ceiling effects. (111)

4.1.1.3 FORGOTTEN JOINT SCORE 12 (FJS-12)

The FJS-12 was introduced in 2012. The rationale behind this instrument is to obtain better discriminatory power in patients with any subtle remaining symptoms. (156) The form consists of 12 questions on pain and functional outcome. Each question is scored 1 (never) to 5 (mostly). The answers are then added up, and the raw score is transformed to a 0–100 scale, where 100 is the best possible outcome and 0 the worst. The instrument is gaining popularity due to its ability to differentiate between a good and excellent result. (110, 157) The Swedish version has been validated and is frequently used. (158)

4.1.1.4 MY HIP

My hip was designed by the research group specifically to assess patients undergoing bilateral, one-stage THA. This far, it has not been validated. The questionnaire encompasses 4 questions evaluating strength, pain and general hip function. The two hips are compared with each other, and patients rank the function and pain in one hip against that in the other hip. (Appendix)

4.1.2 GENERAL HEALTH SCORES

4.1.2.1 EQ-5D-3L

EQ-5D-3L stands for EuroQol 5 dimensions 3 levels. It is used for evaluation of general health. (159) It consists of 5 questions covering mobility, hygiene, activities, pain and depression or anxiety. Responses are given on a scale 1 to 3. The answers are then weighted based on a health index which has been validated in several countries. Since the studies included herein were conducted, a 5-level version of EQ-5D has been developed, but the 3-level version was used in this thesis. The 5-level version is known to have smaller ceiling effects than the 3-level version. (160, 161) The UK tariff was used for all three studies. The best possible outcome is 1 and the worst is -0.594.

4.1.2.2 EQ-VAS

EQ-VAS is a simple grading system for general health. The patient grades their perceived health on a VAS ranging from 0 to 100, where 100 indicates best possible health.

4.1.2.3 SF-36

The SF-36 is a comprehensive tool for evaluation of general health. (162) It consists of 36 questions in 8 dimensions, with both physical and psychological aspects of health and well-being being considered. The score is calculated using an algorithm weighting the answers. The score ranges from 0 to 100, where 100 indicates the best possible health. The form is well-validated in multiple patient categories and clinical settings. (163) In this thesis, SF-36 version 1 was used. The Swedish version has been validated. (164, 165) The SF-36 is also available as a shorter version, SF-12. Studies in this thesis used the full-length version.

4.1.2.4 VAS PAIN AND SATISFACTION

VAS pain and satisfaction are commonly used for evaluation in various settings. The scale usually spans from 0 to 10, where 0 is the best possible outcome and 10 is the worst. VAS pain and satisfaction has been found to correspond to THA outcome. (166, 167)

4.1.2.5 UCLA ACTIVITY SCORE

The UCLA activity score measures physical activity on a scale from 1 to 8 (English version). (168) A high number indicates high physical activity whereas a low score indicates low activity. It is commonly used for evaluation after THA. (169, 170) There are two versions of the UCLA activity score, one ranging from 1 to 10 and one ranging from 1 to 8. In these studies, the 8-point version has been used.

4.2 RADIOGRAPHIC EVALUATION

4.2.1 RADIOSTEREOMETRIC ANALYSIS (RSA)

In this thesis, patients were examined with so-called marker-based RSA (171, 172) To obtain distinct bony landmarks, 7–9 0.8 mm tantalum beads were inserted into the proximal femur during surgery with the use of a dedicated instrument. At follow-up, patients were examined with a calibration cage (Cage 77, RSA Biomedical, Umeå, Sweden) placed beneath the examination table. Two X-ray tubes were used, angled at about 40 degrees in relation to each other and with the central beams crossing each other in the hip region. Translation of the femoral head was used to represent migration of the stem. The examinations were analysed using UMRSA software (RSA Biomedical, Umeå, Sweden).

The patients were examined postoperatively and after 3 months, 6 months, 1 year, 2 years and 5 years.

When analysing RSA examination, it is important to evaluate the stability and distribution of markers. Mean error of body fitting is a measurement of the stability of markers, where the movement of the individual markers within a defined segment is calculated between examinations. The condition number describes the distribution of markers within the studied segment. Upper limits for mean error of rigid body fitting and the condition number were set at 0.35 and 150, respectively, in all three studies. Examinations with less than three bone markers visualized or with a mean error of rigid body fitting/condition number above the limits described were excluded from the analyses. The precision of the examinations was calculated using double examinations. The calculations were based on a 0-mean value between the examinations and corresponded to the standard deviation of the error x 2.66 based on a t-table and the available number of observations. In the precision calculation, a 99% reference interval was used in all three studies.

Migration of the femoral head centre along the three cardinal axes was accounted for. Y-axis translations correspond to proximal (+) or distal (-) migration, X-axis translations to medial (+) or lateral (-) migration and Z-axis translations to anterior (+) or posterior (-) migration of the right hip. Stem rotations were not analysed **(Figure 10).**



Figure 10. Left: Frontal view of a total hip arthroplasty. Blue arrows indicate tantalum markers in the trochanteric and calcar region. Right: The coordinate system with origo in the femoral head centre.

4.2.2 DXA

DXA was performed using a Hologic Discovery QDR DXA scanner and Hologic Apex software (v. 12.7.3; Hologic, Mississauga, Canada). The metal removal scan mode was used. Patients were examined postoperatively and at intervals stated in the study-specific sections below. BMD was analysed and related to Gruen zones. At follow-up, percentage-based change of BMD was calculated in relation to the postoperative value (Figure 11).



Figure 11. DXA image and position of Gruen zones 1–7.

4.2.3 PLAIN RADIOGRAPHS

Patients were examined with plain radiographs (anteroposterior, lateral and pelvic views) 1–3 days postoperatively and at intervals stated in the study-specific sections. The radiographs were analysed by one author (KR) with respect to length of radiolucent lines, presence of welding spots and cortical hypertrophy on both the anteroposterior and lateral views (Figure 12). The lengths of the radiolucent lines were related to the total length of the stembone interface and calculated as percentage. For the CFP stem, the remaining neck length was also evaluated. All examinations were analysed using the Mdesk software (UMRSA, Biomedical, Umeå, Sweden).



Figure 12. Plain radiograph, 6 years after insertion, showing cortical hypertrophy surrounding a CFP stem.

4.3 PAPER I

4.3.1 GENERAL CHARACTERISTICS

Study I was a prospective RCT comparing the SP-CL stem (Waldemar LINK, Hamburg, Germany) with the well-established Corail stem (DePuy Synthes, Raynham, MA, USA). In this study, the 2-year results were presented.

Patients were recruited from the outpatient clinic at Sahlgrenska University Hospital, Mölndal, Sweden.

4.3.2 PATIENT SELECTION

Patients were recruited between 1 April 2013 and 31 May 2017. A total of 301 patients planned for uncemented THA were assessed in the outpatient clinic during this period. A total of 80 patients were recruited. At 2 years, 71 patients (72 hips) remained in the study. One patient with both hips included received a SP-CL stem on one side and a Corail stem on the other **(Figure 13)**.

Randomization was done using envelopes. A study nurse managed the randomization process; neither the surgeons nor the patients were blinded. No stratification was used.

Inclusion criteria were anatomy suitable for both implant designs, age between 35 and 75 years, and primary or secondary osteoarthritis. Exclusion criteria were ongoing treatment with corticosteroids, active cancer disease, known osteoporosis or osteomalacia, inflammatory arthritis, or difficulties speaking or understanding the Swedish language.

A total of 16 surgeons performed the operations. The approach was decided based on the preference of the surgeon in question. A majority of the operations (51; 32 SP-CL, 19 Corail) were performed with a posterior approach (Moore); 24 operations (5 SP-CL, 19 Corail) were performed in a

direct lateral approach (Gammer). All operations were performed in the lateral position. Full weight bearing was permitted postoperatively.



Figure 13. Flowchart Study I.

4.3.3 IMPLANTS

4.3.3.1 SP-CL

The SP-CL stem (Waldemar LINK, Hamburg, Germany) was introduced in 2014. It is defined as an anatomical stem with a slight curvature in the frontal plane and with an anteversion of 5 degrees. Proximally, it is plasma-sprayed with calcium phosphate (HX coating) and distally it is polished **(Figure 14)**.



Figure 14. The SP-CL stem © Waldemar Link.

4.3.3.2 CORAIL

The Corail stem (DePuy Synthes, Raynham, MA, USA) is an uncemented straight stem. It is fully covered with a hydroxyapatite coating. It was first introduced in the 1980s and has excellent results in several national arthroplasty registers. It has been the most used uncemented stem in Sweden since 2009 (Figure 15).



Figure 15. The Corail stem. © Depuy Synthes.

4.3.3.3 ACETABULAR IMPLANT

All patients received an uncemented Delta TT-cup (Trabecular Titanium, Lima Corporate, Milan, Italy). Highly crosslinked polyethylene liners (X-lima) were used in both groups.

4.3.4 FOLLOW-UP PROTOCOL

4.3.4.1 CLINICAL OUTCOME

Patients filled out PROMs preoperatively and at 3 and 6 months and 1 and 2 years. The HHS was filled out by physicians at patient visits to the outpatient clinic, see **Table 1.**

| Score | Preop | 3 m. | 6 m. | 1 y. | 2 y. |
|------------------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|
| OHS | 36/33 | 34/35 | 30/33 | 34/28 | 33/35 |
| EQ-5D | 31/31 | 36/35 | 32/36 | 34/30 | 34/36 |
| EQ-VAS | 36/33 | 37/37 | 33/36 | 34/31 | 33/36 |
| Pain-VAS | 34/36 | 37/37 | 33/36 | 34/30 | 34/36 |
| Satisfaction-VAS | | 37/37 | 33/36 | 34/31 | 34/36 |
| FJS | 35/33 | | | 34/31 | 34/36 |
| HHS | 38/36 | | | 36/37 | 35/36 |
| UCLA | 36/34 | | | 34/31 | 34/36 |

 Table 1. Number of examinations at follow-up. SP-CL/Corail

4.3.4.2 RADIOGRAPHIC EVALUATION

Radiographic evaluations (RSA, DXA and conventional radiographs) were carried out postoperatively, as shown in **Table 2** below.

In the RSA examinations, the median mean error of body fitting was 0.22 (interquartile range (IQR) 0.16–0.27) at 2 years, the median condition number was 30 (IQR 24–35), and the median number of markers used in the reference segment was 7 (IQR 6–8). All examinations fulfilled the RSA guidelines at each follow-up. Precision was determined using double examinations in 71 hips. Translation of the femoral head centre could be measured with a precision of 0.16 (medial (+) or lateral (-)), 0.16 (proximal (+) or distal (-)) and 0.41 (anterior (+) or posterior (-)). The first RSA examination was performed on median 1 day (range 0–2) after the operation.

| Examination | Post op | 3 m. | 6 m. | 1 y. | 2 у. |
|-------------|---------|-------|-------|-------|-------|
| RSA | 37/38 | 37/38 | 37/36 | 37/36 | 36/36 |
| DXA | 36/35 | | 37/38 | 36/34 | 36/32 |
| Radiographs | 37/38 | | | | 34/34 |

Table 2. Number of examinations at follow up. SP-CL/Corail

4.3.5 STATISTICS

Our primary outcome was the OHS at 2 years. Secondary outcomes were proximal-distal migration based on RSA, the FJS and the EQ-VAS, BMD change in percent at 2 years, and revision for any reason within 2 years. We hypothesized that there would be no difference between groups.

Sample size calculations were based on the hypothesis that a 5-point difference in the OHS at 2 years could be detected at 80% power based on a

sample size of 32 observations in each group and an assumed standard deviation of 7. In total, 80 patients were recruited, to allow for dropouts. Recalculations of power based on 72 patients resulted in a power of 78% (difference of 5 points, true SD SP-CL=7.5, Corail=7.2.

All variables except BMD changes had non-normal distribution. Hence, the Mann-Whitney U-test and Wilcoxon's signed rank test were used for comparison between groups. For the BMD data, the T-test was used. All tests were two-sided and p-values <0.05 was assessed as significant. Mean values and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) or medians and IQRs are presented.

The mean difference in migration, measured with RSA, over the whole study period was evaluated using linear mixed models. In this analysis age, gender, type of stem, visit (factor variable), and the interaction of stem-type by visit as fixed effects were entered. In an additional model we also included choice of incision as a fixed effect. Patient was a random factor. An unstructured covariance pattern was used. The absolute migration values were logtransformed to obtain normally distributed data. The obtained results were anti-logarithmized and are presented as geometric means and ratios of geometric means and 95% confidence limits.

All statistical analyses were performed using the IBM SPSS v. 24 (IBM, Armonk, New York, USA) and SAS/STAT (SAS institute, Solna, Sweden).

4.3.6 ETHICS AND FUNDING

All patients gave consent in accordance with the Helsinki guidelines. The study underwent ethical review by the Gothenburg ethical committee (nr 140-15) and was registered in the National Clinical Trials database (NCT04599582)

The study was funded with grants from the Swedish State under the agreement between the Swedish government and the county councils (721791), IngaBritt and Arne Lundberg Research Foundation, Felix Neubergh Foundation, and Link Germany.

4.4 PAPER II

4.4.1 GENERAL CHARACTERISTICS

Study II was a prospective RCT comparing the CFP stem (Waldemar LINK, Hamburg, Germany) with the Corail stem (DePuy Synthes, Raynham, MA, USA). Due to its long-term follow-up and excellent results in national registries, the Corail stem was used as the reference stem. The 5-year results were presented in this study.

Use of the direct lateral approach was determined for all patients in accordance with the study protocol. Full weight bearing was encouraged postoperatively.

4.4.2 PATIENT SELECTION

Patients eligible for THA with clinical and radiological signs of osteoarthritis were selected from the outpatient clinic at Sahlgrenska University Hospital, Mölndal, Sweden, between May 2012 and May 2014. In total, 458 patients eligible for uncemented fixation were examined at the outpatient clinic. Exclusion criteria were previous treatment with corticosteroids and low activity due to comorbidities or generalized joint disease. The randomization process was managed by a study nurse, using envelopes. No stratification was used. Neither patients nor surgeons were blinded. All patients had an anatomy suitable for both implant design and were aged between 35 and 75 years at inclusion. A total of 82 patients (40 CFP, 42 Corail) entered the study. At 5 years, a total of 71 patients (35 CFP, 36 Corail) remained in the study **(Figure 16).**

In two cases, the study protocol was violated – one patient was operated with a posterior approach and one patient received a Trilogy cup (ZimmerBiomet, Warzaw, IN, USA) due to a lack of sterile instruments. Both patients remained in the study.



Figure 16. Flowchart Study II. *Periprosthetic Joint Infection

4.4.3 IMPLANTS

4.4.3.1 CFP

The CFP stem is available in 6 different sizes, with two types of curvature and two different CCD angles (117 and 126 degrees, respectively). It is straight in the sagittal plane. The stem is categorized as a short, collum-sparing stem. The rationale behind the design is to preserve proximal bone and to mimic the femoral anatomy. The entire stem is coated with calcium phosphate **(Figure 17)**.



Figure 17. The CFP stem © Waldemar Link.

4.4.3.2 CORAIL

See information for Paper I.

4.4.3.3 ACETABULAR COMPONENT

All patients (except one) received a Delta TT-cup (Trabecular Titanium, Lima Corporate, Milan, Italy). Highly crosslinked polyethylene liners (X-lima) were used in both groups. A Longevity liner was used for the single Trilogy cup.

4.4.4 FOLLOW-UP PROTOCOL

4.4.4.1 CLINICAL EVALUATION

Patients filled out the questionnaires preoperatively, at 3 months and at 1, 2 and 5 years. The HHS was filled out by physicians at patient visits at the outpatient clinic. The numbers of patients participating in clinical evaluations are presented in **Table 3**.

| Score | Preop | 3 m. | 1 y. | 2 y. | 5 y. |
|------------------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|
| OHS | 39/41 | | 36/41 | 37/38 | 34/36 |
| EQ-5D | 38/40 | 37/40 | 36/40 | 37/39 | 34/36 |
| EQ-VAS | 38/40 | 37/41 | 37/40 | 37/39 | 33/36 |
| Pain-VAS | 38/40 | 37/41 | 37/41 | 37/39 | 34/36 |
| Satisfaction-VAS | | 37/41 | 37/40 | 37/39 | 34/36 |
| ннѕ | 22/22 | | 37/40 | 34/38 | 33/34 |
| UCLA act. | 38/41 | 37/41 | 35/40 | 37/38 | 33/34 |

 Table 3. Numbers of examinations at follow-up. CFP/Corail.

4.4.4.2 RADIOLOGICAL EVALUATION

The numbers of patients attending the radiographic and DXA examinations are presented in **Table 4**.

| Examination | Post op | 3 m. | 6 m. | 1 y. | 2 y. | 5 y. |
|-------------|------------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|
| RSA | 40/41 | 39/40 | 39/40 | 39/40 | 38/38 | 35/36 |
| DXA | 37/38 | 39/41 | 40/40 | 39/40 | 36/39 | 26/33 |
| Radiographs | 40/41 | | | 40/41 | 38/39 | 35/36 |

 Table 4. Numbers of examinations at follow-up. CFP/Corail.

At 5 years, the median error of mean body fitting was 0.18 (IQR 0.01–0.34) and median condition number was 33 (IQR 16–116). The median number of markers used in the reference segment was 7 (IQR 3–9). The precision of RSA examinations was presented in the 2-year follow-up study by Klein et al. 2019. (173) The medial (+) or lateral (-), proximal (+) or distal (-), and anterior (+) or posterior (-) translation of the femoral head centre could be measured with a precision of 0.18, 0.18, and 0.45 mm, respectively. All but two of the attending patients had complete RSA follow-ups. Those two patients had missing examinations at 3 or 6 months. These data were extrapolated and included in the analysis. All RSA examinations fulfilled the RSA guidelines for mean errors of body fitting and condition number. RSA examinations were carried out at a median of 2 days (range 1–20) postoperatively. An explanation to why one patient did not undergo RSA examination until day 20 cannot easily be found.

At 5 years 15 patients (10 CFP and 5 Corail) did not undergo DXA, this due to a lack of capacity and logistical problems. Another four patients lacked examinations at earlier times. Thus, 53 patients had complete follow-up data.

Conventional radiographs were analysed for tip sclerosis, welding and radiolucent lines. The amount of neck length resorption was measured for all

CFP stems and for those Corail stems supplied with a collar. The results are presented as the quotient between remaining neck (A in **Figure 18**) and length from lesser trochanter to stem collar on postoperative radiographs (B).



Figure 18. Neck resorption ratio calculated for the CFP stem.

4.4.5 STATISTICS

The OHS was used as the primary outcome. Secondary outcomes were subsidence, BMD changes and additional PROM data.
Determination of sample size was based on the assumption that a group difference of 5 points in the OHS could be detected, provided a standard deviation of 7. A total of 32 patients in each group was needed to reach 80% power. The actual power at 5 years was 86%.

Most parameters had non-normal distribution. Thus, the Mann-Whitney U test was used for comparisons between groups. The BMD data had a nearly normal distribution, and a T-test was used for analysis. All tests were 2-sided and a p value < 0.05 was considered significant. Repeated measure analysis (linear mixed models) was used to evaluate migration and change of BMD over the 5 follow up occasions up to 5 years. In both models type of stem (CFP or Corail), age, sex, visit and stem by visit were explanatory variables. Patient was a random factor. An unstructured covariance pattern was applied. The overall treatment effects on femoral head migration and BMD changes over time are presented as differences in estimated means with 95% confidence limits.

All statistical analyses were performed using the IBM SPSS v. 24 (IBM, Armonk, New York, USA) and SAS/STAT (SAS institute, Solna, Sweden).

4.4.6 ETHICS AND FUNDING

The study complied with the Helsinki guidelines and all patients gave written consent. Ethical approval was retrieved from the Gothenburg ethical board (Nr 234-12). The study was registered in the National Clinical Trials (NCY02983526).

Funding was received from the Swedish State under the agreement between the Swedish government and the county councils (721791), Inga Britt and Arne Lundberg Research Foundation, Felix Neubergh Foundation, LimaCorporate (Italy), and Waldemar Link GmbH & Co (Germany)

4.5 PAPER III

4.5.1 GENERAL CHARACTERISTICS

The study was a prospective RCT comparing the Fitmore (ZimmerBiomet, Warsaw, IN, USA) stem with the CLS Spotorno stem (ZimmerBiomet, Warsaw, IN, USA). Patients underwent one-stage bilateral THA. This study design was used to minimize the risk of bias of individual differences in BMD and migration patterns.

4.5.2 PATIENT SELECTION

Patients assessed at the outpatient clinic at Sahlgrenska University Hospital, Mölndal, Sweden, with bilateral arthrosis eligible for THA, were screened for participation. A total of 44 patients (88 hips) were enrolled in the study between 2011 and 2016. Inclusion criteria were anatomy suitable for both implants, general health compatible with bilateral one-stage surgery, and age between 35 and 75 years. Exclusion criteria were treatment with corticosteroids, inability to understand or speak the Swedish language, short life expectancy, osteopenia or osteomalacia, or ongoing oncologic treatment. The hip causing most pain was randomized to either implant. The second hip was operated with the type of stem not used for the first one. The randomization process was conducted by a study nurse using envelopes. No stratification was used. At 5 years, 35 patients remained in the study **(Figure 19)**.

All operations were performed by one of four surgeons using a direct lateral approach. Immediate weight bearing was encouraged postoperatively. The study protocol was breached in one case. The patient developed blisters on the contralateral side during the first operation, and the second hip surgery was postponed. The patient remained in the study, but the results were not included in the analysis.



Figure 19. Flowchart Study III. **PJI = periprostethic joint infection.*

4.5.3 IMPLANTS

4.5.3.1 FITMORE

The Fitmore stem is categorized as a short stem with mainly metaphyseal fixation. It is slightly curved in the frontal plane and has a trapezoid cross-section. The stem is made of a titanium alloy that is plasma spray-coated with titanium alloy proximally and grit-blasted distally. The system includes the component families (A, B and C) where family B has two different offsets to restore anatomy in a wide spectrum of femoral morphologies (Figure 20).



Figure 20. The Fitmore stem © Zimmer Biomet.

4.5.3.2 CLS SPOTORNO

The CLS Spotorno stem is a straight stem, trapezoidal in both the frontal and the lateral view. The trapezoidal shape promotes stability even if the stem settles. It is made of a titanium alloy and has proximal grooves to enhance bone in-growth. The implant is available with three different CCD angles; in this study, only 125° and 135° stems were used. The stem has been on the market in its current design since the 1990s and has excellent results in arthroplasty registries. In this study, the CLS stem was used as the reference stem (Figure 21).



Figure 21. The CLS stem © Zimmer Biomet.

4.5.3.3 ACETABULAR COMPONENT

All patients received a Trilogy cup (Zimmer Biomet, Warsaw, IN, USA). A highly cross-linked polyethylene insert (Longevity) was used in all patients.

4.5.4 FOLLOW-UP PROTOCOL

4.5.4.1 CLINICAL EVALUATION

Patients were evaluated using both hip-specific and general health assessment tools. There is no validated PROM for bilateral operations, so an unvalidated score was used for hip-specific evaluation. PROMs were filled out preoperatively and at 3 months and 1, 2 and 5 years postoperatively. VAS-pain and VAS-satisfaction were recorded separately for the two hips, though no bilateral recording was made preoperatively. At 5 years, bilateral assessment of VAS-pain and VAS-satisfaction was missing in 10 patients. Only 25 patients were evaluated bilaterally and included in the analysis. The numbers of patients clinically evaluated on each occasion are presented in **Table 5**.

| Score | Preop | 3 m | 1 y | 2 y | 5 y |
|-----------------------------|-------|-----|-----|-----|-----|
| EQ-5D | 40 | 40 | 38 | 39 | 33 |
| EQ-VAS | 40 | 43 | 38 | 38 | 32 |
| VAS-pain | 40 | | | | |
| Bilateral assessment | 0 | 40 | 35 | 37 | 25 |
| VAS-satisfaction | | | | | |
| Bilateral assessment | | 40 | 35 | 37 | 25 |
| SF-36 | 37 | 39 | 39 | 39 | 33 |
| My hip | 40 | | | 37 | 33 |
| HHS Bilateral assessment | 42 | | 39 | 36 | 33 |
| UCLA act. Score | 39 | 39 | 37 | 36 | 32 |

Table 5. Numbers of examinations at each follow-up.

4.5.4.2 RADIOLOGICAL EVALUATION

Data on patients with bilateral radiographic and DXA examination are presented in **Table 6**.

| Examination | Post op | 3 m. | 6 m. | 1 y. | 2 y. | 5 y. |
|-------------|---------|------|------|------|------|------|
| RSA | 41 | 40 | 40 | 40 | 38 | 33 |
| DXA | 39 | 40 | 40 | 39 | 39 | 33 |
| Radiographs | 41 | 41 | | 42 | 40 | 34 |

Table 6. Numbers of bilateral examinations.

Patients were followed up until revision, regardless of reason for revision.

At 5 years, the median value of the mean error of body fitting was 0.18 (IQR 0.15–0.22), the median condition number 31 (IQR 26–42), and the median number of markers in the reference segment 7 (IQR 5–8). In one patient, the examinations did not fulfil the RSA guidelines for condition number (> 150). In this case, both hips were excluded from analysis. One patient had missing data at 6 months; these data were extrapolated and included in the analysis. All other patients had complete RSA follow-up to 5 years. The first RSA examination was performed on a median of 4 days (range 0–7) after the operation.

Precision analysis of the RSA examinations was carried out through double examinations in 85 hips. Translation of the femoral head centre could be measured with a precision of 0.28 mm medial (+) or lateral (-), 0.22 mm proximal (+) or-distal (-), and 0.7 mm anterior (+) or-posterior (-).

4.5.5 STATISTICS

My hip was used as the primary outcome at 2 years. The results were crosstabulated, and Fisher's exact test was used for analysis. RSA and PROM data were non-normally distributed and paired assessment using Wilcoxon's signed rank test was carried out. BMD data had a normal or nearly normal distribution, and the paired T-test was used for assessment. Distribution of data was assessed using plotting and tests (Shapiro-Wilk, Kolmogorov-Smirnov). All tests were two-sided, and the significance level was set to 5%. Sample size calculation was based on the assumption that there would be 35 patients remaining in the study at 2 years. Provided that 26 of them preferred one of the implants, a power exceeding 80% would be reached. All statistical analyses were carried out using SPSS v. 24.0.00 (IBM, Armonk, New York, USA).

4.5.6 ETHICS AND FUNDING

This study was performed in accordance with the Helsinki Declaration (Ethical approval 617-10, Regional Ethical Committee Gothenburg, Sweden). Written informed consent was obtained from all patients. The study was registered in ClinicalTrials.gov (reg. nr. NCT03112785).

Funding was received from the Swedish State under the agreement between the Swedish government and the county councils (965964), Inga Britt and Arne Lundberg Research Foundation, Felix Neubergh Foundation, and ZimmerBiomet (Zimmer Switzerland Manufacturing GmbH, Winterthur, Switzerland).

4.6 PAPER IV

4.6.1 GENERAL CHARACTERISTICS

The study was a register-based study on short stems. Patients who had received a short stem were selected from the Australian (AOANJRR), Dutch (LROI) and Swedish (SAR) arthroplasty registries. A matched cohort with patients who had undergone surgery with a standard stem was used for comparison. The overall cumulative revision rate (CRR) for short stems were calculated and compared to that for the matched standard stems. First-time stem revisions were identified and analysed with respect to the type of stem used. The stem used in the revision stem (\geq 160 mm or modular stem). This was used as a proxy to classify revisions as 'easy' and 'bone-sparing', without invasion of the distal femur. The overall CRR for second revisions was also calculated.

4.6.2 NATIONAL ARTHROPLASTY REGISTERS

4.6.2.1 AUSTRALIAN ORTHOPAEDIC ASSOCIATION NATIONAL JOINT REPLACEMENT REGISTER (AOANJRR)

The Australian arthroplasty register was started in 1999, becoming national in 2002, and a total of 642,704 total hip replacements had been reported to the register by 31 December 2022. The data are validated in multiple steps, comparing the reported procedures with health department data. The validation process identifies procedures not reported to the register; sufficient data are then retrieved from the state unit records to request data from hospitals. According to calculations performed, the completeness of the register is approximately 99.2% for hip, knee and shoulder replacements. The AOANJRR is the only register globally that reports short stems separately.

4.6.2.2 THE DUTCH ARTHROPLASTY REGISTER (LANDELIJKE REGISTRATIE ORTHOPEDISCHE INTERVENTIES - LROI)

The Dutch national register contains data on arthroplasties since 2007. It is a population-based register established by the Dutch Orthopaedic Association. In total, 550,227 primary THAs were reported to the register between 2007 and 2022. The register is validated in multiple steps, comparing the reported data with data in the hospital information system. The completeness for primary THA is high, approximately 99%; for revisions, the corresponding figure is 97%. Data on both patient and implant characteristics are collected. Prosthesis characteristics are derived from an implant library with information provided from the manufacturers.

4.6.2.3 SWEDISH ARTHROPLASTY REGISTER (SAR)

The SAR is a merger of the former Swedish Hip Arthroplasty Register and the Swedish Knee Arthroplasty Register. In 2021, they were merged into the SAR. The Swedish Hip Arthroplasty Register was founded in 1979, making it one of the oldest hip arthroplasty registries globally. Between 1979 and 2022, 541,078 primary hip arthroplasties were reported to the register. The data are validated through a multi-step process where the reported data are compared to data in the patient register managed by the Swedish National Board of Health and Welfare. The completeness of the register was approximately 98% in 2022. The register contains data on patients as well as implant characteristics. Information on implants is derived from information given by the manufacturers.

4.6.3 PATIENTS AND IMPLANTS

4.6.3.1 DEFINITION OF SHORT STEM

The Australian definition of short stems was used to select implants from the AOANJRR and the SAR. This states that a short stem is designed as a short implant and has mainly metaphyseal fixation. This overlaps the Dutch definition, which was used for selection in the LROI. (5, 174)

4.6.3.2 STUDY POPULATION

Patients operated with a short stem THA between 2007 and 2022 were identified in each of the three registries. Patients operated with THA following malignancy and with metal-on-metal bearing were excluded. All other patients were included, and their primary surgery and any subsequent first and second revisions were retrieved from the registries. A matched cohort with patients operated with the three most common uncemented stems in each register was used as control. The matching was done separately in each of the three registries. A 1:2 propensity score matching using the nearest neighbour was performed based on age, sex, diagnosis, bearing material and surgical approach. Information on approach was first recorded in the AOANJRR in 2015; therefore, the Australian cohort was not matched on approach.

In total, 16,258 patients operated with short stems were identified. The matched cohort comprised 32,515 patients (**Figure 22**).

Reasons for revisions varies between registries, to harmonize six categories were used: aseptic loosening, periprosthetic fracture, periprosthetic joint infection, dislocation, other and missing. Reasons such as leg length discrepancy, implant failure including fracture, and pain without any other reason were cathegorized as "other".

69

In the LROI and the AOANJRR multiple reasons for revision can be recorded, while up to two reasons can be recorded in the SAR. Therefore, a hierarchical structure (infection, aseptic loosening, periprosthetic fracture, dislocation, other reasons and 'missing') was used for all registries.

Revision was defined as a new surgical intervention where any part of the implant was removed or exchanged. A total of 427 first revisions, of which 239 were revisions of the femoral component, were identified among the short stem THAs. The corresponding figures for the standard stem THAs were 756 and 352 (**Figure 17**). Implant used for first revision of the femoral component was identified and categorized as either standard implant or revision implant (see below for definitions). Further, second revisions (all revisions, all reasons) were also identified (short stem primary THA: 79, standard stem primary THA: 142) and reasons for second revisions were recorded.



4.6.3.3 IMPLANTS USED IN PRIMARY THA

There are also differences in the implant used in primary THA. In the AOANJRR, Taperloc Microplasty, Optimys and Minihip were used in almost 88% of the short stem cases. In the LROI, Fitmore, Optimys and CFP were the three most commonly used short stems (comprising 95.5% of the cases). In the SAR, the CFP, Fitmore and Proxima stems comprised almost 94% of the short stems. In table 7 the total amount of each stem used is presented. With the standard-length stems, only Corail were used in all three countries **(Table 7)**.

4.6.3.4 DEFINITION OF STEM USED IN FIRST REVISION

Implants used in first revisions were classified as standard stems (less than 160 mm in length) or revision stems (160 mm or longer). For modular stems, only the length of the proximal part was registered – the length of the distal part was not known. Hence, all modular stems were classified as revision stems due to distal fixation and the design of the stems.

 Table 7. Stems used in primary surgery.

| Short stems: | N (%) |
|---|---------------------|
| CFP | 976 <i>(6)</i> |
| (Waldemar Link, Hamburg, Germany) | |
| Collo-MIS | 15 <i>(0.1)</i> |
| (Lima Corporate, Milan, Italy) | |
| Fitmore | 2,800 (17.1) |
| (Zimmer Biomet, Warzaw, IN, USA) | |
| (Zimmer Biomet Warzaw IN LISA) | 90 (0.0) |
| Mavo | 43 (0.3) |
| (Zimmer Biomet, Warzaw, IN, USA) | |
| Metha | 123 (0.8) |
| (B. Braun Aesculap, Tuttlingen, Germany) | |
| MiniHip | 1,457 <i>(9.0)</i> |
| (Coringroup, Circencester, UK) | |
| MiniMax | 415 <i>(2.5)</i> |
| (Medacta International, Castel San Pietro, Switzerland) | |
| Nanos | 704 (4.3) |
| (Smith and Nephew, London, UK) | 4 5 40 (20 0) |
| Optimys (Mathyr, Battlach Switzerland) | 4,549 (28.0) |
| (Mathys, Bettlach, Switzenand) | 02 (0 6) |
| (Smith and Nephew London, LIK) | 93 (0.0) |
| Pulchra System | 63 (0.4) |
| (Adler Orthro, Cormano, Italy) | |
| Silent | 54 <i>(0.3)</i> |
| (Depuy Synthes, Warsaw, IN, USA) | |
| Taperloc Microplasty | 4,870 <i>(30.0)</i> |
| (ZimmerBiomet, Warzaw, IN, USA) | |
| Standard stems: | |
| Corail | 15,753 |
| (Depuy Synthes, Warsaw, IN, USA) | (48.4) |
| Polarstem | 5,171 <i>(15.9)</i> |
| (Smith and Nephew, London, UK) | |
| Quadra-H | 4,743 (14.6) |
| (Medacta, Castel San Pietro, Switzerland) | |
| Allociassic Zweymuller | 1,260 (3.9) |
| (ZimmerBiomet, Warzaw, IN, USA) | 1.001 |
| ZimmerBiomet Warzew IN LISA) | 4,001 |
| (Zimmer Blomet, Warzaw, IN, USA) | (14.3) |
| | 609 <i>(1.9)</i> |
| (Zimmer Biomet, Warzaw, IN, USA) | |
| Bi-Metric | 318 <i>(1.0)</i> |
| (ZimmerBiomet, Warzaw, IN, USA) | |

4.6.4 STATISTICS

A propensity score matching (1:2) using the nearest neighbour was performed based on the variables presented above. In the LROI and AOANJRR data the standardized mean differences of the matching balance were all <0.1. In the SAR data the standardized mean difference of the matching balance varied between <0.10 and 0.26.

Descriptive statistics were used to summarize patient, prosthesis and procedure characteristics. Kaplan-Meier analysis was performed to calculate the overall survival of primary and secondary surgery up to 12 and 5 years, respectively. Beyond that, the number of patients at risk (< 150) was judged to be too low for further analysis. The log-rank test was used for comparison of CRR between groups. The significance level was set at 5%.

The Australian register does not report the status at revision of individual components. Thus, despite that the number of stem revisions was known, the reason for their revision was not specified. Therefore, we had only access to revision rates based on the outcome "all types of revision due to any reason" concerning the Australian data.

Choice of stem (<160 mm, ≥160 mm or modular) was evaluated using the chisquared test. Stratified analysis of choice of stem used in first revision was performed with stratification by age and sex. The age groups were younger than 63 years and 63 years or older (median age in population). Sub-analysis of aseptic femoral stem revisions was also performed. SPSS (IBM, Armonk, New York, USA) and R (The R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria) were used.

4.6.5 ETHICS AND FUNDING

Ethical approval to share anonymous data from the SAR was granted from the National Ethical Board of Sweden (Nr: 2022-06130-02). For the LROI and the AOANJRR, no ethical approval was required – both registers use opt-out

systems to obtain informed consent from patients. All data included in the study were anonymized. The study was funded by the Dutch Arthroplasty register, the Gothenburg Medical Association and the Swedish state under the agreement between the Swedish government and the county councils, the ALF agreement (721791).



5 RESULTS

5.1 PAPER I

5.1.1 BASELINE DEMOGRAPHICS

Baseline demographics did not differ between groups. Notable is the difference in the distribution of incisions, with more SP-CL stems inserted with a posterior approach **(Table 8).**

| Factor | SP-CL N = 37 | Corail N = 38 |
|---|--------------------------|--------------------------|
| Age, years (mean (95% CI)) Median (IQR) | 58 (55–61) 56 (51–65) | 62 (60–64) 62 (58–68) |
| Sex, male/female | 17/20 | 14/24 |
| Diagnosis, nr (%) Osteoarthritis, primary Osteoarthritis, secondary Missing | 34 (92) 3 (8) | 37 (97) 1 (3) |
| ASA class 1 2 3 > 4 | 16 20 1 0 | 10 27 1 0 |
| BMI, kg/m² Median (IQR) | 26.6 (25.5–30.0) | 27 (23.5–29.0) |
| Charnley class A B C Missing | 19 2 11 5 | 14 6 11 7 |
| Surgical approach Posterior Direct lateral | 32 5 | 19 19 |

Table 8. Baseline demographics.

5.1.2 CLINICAL RESULTS

During the first three months postoperatively, there was a steep improvement in clinical outcome. The OHS almost doubled during the first months postoperatively, after which the improvement slowed down (Figure 23). Between 3 and 6 months, there was a statistically significant increase (p < 0.001) within both groups, but thereafter patients reported no increased quality of life, less pain or better function regardless of the implant chosen. In the linear mixed models on OHS the estimated mean difference up to 2 years was -0.70 (CI -4.3 to 2.9) and after adjustment for incision 0.04 (CI -4.0 to 4.0), hence no difference could be observed between groups.





Figure 23. Mean OHS and EQ-VAS scores (+/- 2 standard error of the mean) preoperatively, at 3 and 6 months, and 1 and 2 years. All available patients (see Table 1) were included in the analysis.

All other PROMs and the HHS followed the same pattern, with a steep improvement that then gradually slowed down. After 6 months, no further improvement within groups could be seen. At 2 years, no statistical difference could be seen in any PROM or the HHS between groups **(Table 9)**.

| | Type of stem | F | Preoperative | | 2 years | P-value* |
|-----------------------|--------------|----|------------------|----|-----------------------|----------|
| Instrument | | Ν | Median | Ν | Median | 2 years |
| | | | IQR | | IQR | |
| Oxford Hip Score | SP-CL | 36 | 20 <i>16–25</i> | 33 | 46 42–48 | 0.9 |
| | Corail | 33 | 21 <i>16–26</i> | 35 | 47 42–48 | |
| Harris Hip Score | SP-CL | 37 | 54 45–65 | 34 | 100 95–100 | 0.8 |
| | Corail | 38 | 56 <i>43–65</i> | 34 | 100 <i>96–100</i> | |
| Forgotten Joint Score | SP-CL | 35 | 6 <i>2–</i> 25 | 34 | 74 48–94 | 0.7 |
| | Corail | 33 | 6 1–15 | 35 | 83 <i>46–98</i> | |
| EQ-5D | SP-CL | 31 | 0.55 0.23-0.60 | 34 | 0.97 <i>0.90–0.97</i> | 0.5 |
| | Corail | 31 | 0.41 0.20-0.66 | 36 | 0.93 <i>0.87–0.97</i> | |
| EQ-VAS | SP-CL | 31 | 60 <i>30–80</i> | 33 | 85 <i>75–95</i> | 0.9 |
| | Corail | 32 | 60 <i>50</i> –74 | 36 | 84 <i>75–95</i> | |
| VAS Pain | SP-CL | 36 | 64 <i>58–72</i> | 34 | 5 <i>0</i> –14 | 0.3 |
| | Corail | 34 | 62 57–75 | 36 | 2 0–11 | |
| VAS Satisfaction | SP-CL | | | 34 | 2 0–16 | 0.4 |
| | Corail | | | 36 | 1 <i>0</i> –7 | |
| UCLA | SP-CL | 36 | 4 3–5 | 34 | 4 3–5 | 0.5 |
| | Corail | 34 | 4 3–5 | 36 | 4 4–5 | |

Table 9. Patient-reported outcome measures and Harris Hip Score. VAS pain and VAS satisfaction were reported on a scale 0–100 where 0 is the best result. EQ-VAS was reported on a scale 0–100 where 100 is the best result. * Mann-Whitney U-test

5.1.2.1 REVISION

Two patients (Corail) were revised due to periprosthetic joint infection (PJI); no patient was revised for non-infectious reasons.

5.1.3 RADIOLOGICAL RESULTS

5.1.3.1 RSA

The two types of stems displayed similar migration patterns, with early migration followed by stabilization. Both types of stems subsided, medialized and migrated posteriorly (corresponding to retroversion of the femoral head) during the first 3 months postoperatively. The SP-CL stem showed a slightly more scattered migration pattern, but no statistically significant difference could be seen between groups at 3 months. (Medial-lateral p=0.8; proximal-distal p=0.09; anterior-posterior p=0.5, Mann-Whitney U-test) Beyond 3 months little further migration was seen (Figure 24).



Figure 24. Mean migration $(mm) \pm 2$ standard error of the mean.

When analysed using linear mixed models, no difference could be seen between implants in the first model (including stem, age, sex, visit and stem by visit as explanatory variables). When incision was added the SP-CL stem showed a statistically significant greater subsidence than the Corail stem (Table 10).

| Direction or type of migration | Ratio of estimated mean (95% CI) |
|--------------------------------|----------------------------------|
| Model 1 | |
| Medial or lateral | 1.0 (0.6-1.6) |
| Proximal or distal | 2.0 (0.95-4.0) |
| Anterior or posterior | 0.9 (0.5-1.8) |
| Model 2 (+incision) | |
| Medial or lateral | 0.9 (0.5-1.6) |
| Proximal or distal | 2.7 (1.3-5.7) |
| Anterior or posterior | 0.9 (0.5-1.9) |

Table 10. Overall treatment effect SP-CL/Corail (3, 6, 12 and 24 months)

Migration between the two last examinations were calculated to assess individual late movements. Between 1 and 2 years the median migration along either of the three axes was less than 0.1 mm regardless of stem **(Table 11)**. During the second year, 5 SP-CL and 9 Corail showed migration above the 99% detection level along any of the 3 axes. In the SP-CL group, four stems only subsided and one stem showed migration in both the anterior-posterior and the medial-lateral direction. With the Corail stem, four stems migrated only in the anterior-posterior direction and three in only the medial-lateral direction and the anterior in both the anterior and medial-lateral direction in one case and in both the medial-lateral direction and the anterior-posterior direction in one case.

| | Type of stem | Median (mm) <i>IQR</i> | p-value* |
|----------------------------|-----------------|------------------------|----------|
| 1–2 years | | | |
| Medial (+)-lateral (-) | SP-CL | 0.04 -0.05-0.11 | 0.4 |
| | Corail | 0.007 -0.06-0.07 | |
| Proximal (+)-distal (-) | SP-CL | -0.02 -0.11-0.02 | 0.2 |
| | Corail | -0.01 -0.07-0.07 | |
| Anterior (+)-posterior (-) | SP-CL | -0.07 -0.19–0.05 | 0.4 |
| | Corail | -0.03 -0.19-0.11 | |
| | | | |

Table 11. Migration between 1 and 2 years. *Mann Whitney U-test

5.1.3.2 BMD

In the lateral zones (1–3), a decrease could be seen for both types of stems without any statistically significant difference between groups. In the distal zones (4, 5), there was no obvious change of BMD in either of the groups. Unlike Corail, SP-CL showed a slight decrease in zone 6. In zone 7, both types of stems showed a marked decrease in BMD, with a significantly larger decrease in the SP-CL than in the Corail group (p = 0.003) (Table 12, Figure 25).

Table 12. Postoperative bone mineral density by Gruen zones and postoperative mean change at 6 months and 1 and 2 years. Only patients with complete follow-up are included in analysis (SP-CL 34, Corail 28) P-value calculation at 2 years includes all available examinations. *Ind. T-test

| p-value* at 2 years | 0.4 | | 6.0 | | 0.7 | | 0.6 | | 6.0 | | 0.05 | | 0.003 | |
|-------------------------------------|--------------------|--------------------|--------------------|--------------------|---------------|-------------------|---------------|-------------------|--------------|--------------|--------------------|-------------------|----------------------|----------------------|
| 2-year mean change in % 95% C/ | -7.6 -11.1– (-4.1) | -5.9 -9.6– (-2.2) | -7.1 -10.5– (-3.7) | -7.1 -10.5– (-3.6) | -1.9 -4.0-0.1 | -2.8 -4.9– (-0.6) | -1.5 -3.2–0.1 | -2.0 -3.6- (-0.4) | 0.4 -1.8–2.6 | 0.3 -2.2–2.9 | -9.1 -12.8– (-5.5) | -3.7 -7.9–0.5 | -25.4 -30.8– (-19.9) | -14.8 -20.0– (-9.7) |
| 1-year mean change in % 95% C/ | -6.7 -10.2- (-3.1) | -6.9 -10.1– (-3.7) | -5.2 -8.0 – (-2.5) | -4.1 -7.1- (-1.1) | -1.3 -3.1–0.5 | -0.1 -2.6–2.4 | 0.3 -1.3-1.9 | 0.2 -1.5–1.8 | 1.6 -0.2–3.4 | 1.4 -0.2–2.9 | -6.6 -10.4– (-2.7) | -3.2 -5.8- (-0.7) | -18.9 -26.7- (-11.1) | -15.1 -19.3– (-10.8) |
| 6-month mean change in %. 95% CI | -7.5 -11.0– (-4.1) | -7.5 -10.6– (-4.3) | -6.9 -10.9- (-3.6) | -2.4 -5.5–0.7) | -0.7 -2.9–1.4 | -1.9 -4.7–0.7 | 0.8 -1.3-2.9 | 0.6 -1.2-2.3 | 1.0 -1.3-3.4 | 2.1 -0.5-4.7 | -5.8 -8.8– (-2.7) | -4.5 -7.5- (-1.6) | -20.1 -25.5– (-14.6) | -16.7 -20.3– (-13.1) |
| Type of stem | SP-CL | Corail | SP-CL | Corail | SP-CL | Corail | SP-CL | Corail | SP-CL | Corail | SP-CL | Corail | SP-CL | Corail |
| Gruen zone | - | | 2 | | ę | | 4 | | ъ | | 9 | | 7 | |



Figure 25. Mean change in BMD ±2 standard error of the mean. Only patients with complete follow up were included in the analysis.

5.1.3.3 CONVENTIONAL RADIOGRAPHS

No radiographs at any time showed tip sclerosis or welding. Postoperatively, no stem in any group showed any radiolucent lines in either view. At 2 years, 7 SP-CL and 9 Corail stems showed radiolucent lines in either the frontal or the lateral view. In the frontal view, one SP-CL stem showed radiolucent lines measuring 5% of the relative length. A total of 8 Corail stems showed radiolucent lines in the frontal view; the median (in cases with lines) was 7% (range 6–16). On the lateral view, the corresponding figures were 9.5% (range 7–13) among 6 SP-CL stems, and 9% (range 7–17) among 8 Corail stems.

5.2 PAPER II

5.2.1 BASELINE DEMOGRAPHICS

Baseline demographics did not differ between groups (Table 13).

| Factor | CFP | Corail |
|----------------------------|------------------|------------------|
| | N = 40 | N = 42 |
| Age, years (mean (95% CI)) | 61 (58–64) | 60 (57–63) |
| Median (IQR) | 64 (53–68) | 60 (53–66) |
| Sex, male/female | 25/15 | 27/15 |
| Diagnosis, nr (%) | | |
| Osteoarthritis, primary | 38 (95) | 40 (95) |
| Osteoarthritis, secondary | | |
| Missing | 2 (5) | 2 (5) |
| ASA class | | |
| 1 | 21 | 16 |
| 2 | 16 | 20 |
| 3 | 1 | 4 |
| >4 | 0 | 0 |
| missing | 2 | 2 |
| BMI (kg/m²) | | |
| Median (IQR) | 26.3 (24.1–29.2) | 28.8 (25.1–32.3) |
| Charnley class | | |
| А | 20 | 26 |
| В | 4 | 8 |
| C | 14 | 6 |
| Missing | 2 | 2 |

Table 13. Baseline demographics.

5.2.2 CLINICAL RESULTS

There was a steep improvement in hip function and general health during the first postoperative year, a pattern true for both implants. Thereafter little further improvement could be seen in any of the groups **(Figure 26)**.





Figure 26. Clinical results, mean ±2 standard error of the mean. All available patients included in the analysis

At 5 years, neither the PROMs nor the HHS differed with statistical significance between the two groups studied, **Table 14**.

| | Type of stem | P | reoperative | | 5 years | p-value* |
|------------------|-----------------|----------|---|----------|--|----------|
| Instrument | | Ν | Median IQR | Ν | Median IQR | 5 years |
| Oxford Hip Score | CFP Corail | 39 41 | 21 <i>15–26</i> 20 <i>14–26</i> | 34 36 | 45 <i>35–48</i> 45 <i>40–48</i> | 0.7 |
| Harris Hip Score | CFP Corail | 22 22 | 53.5 <i>42–63</i> 51.5 <i>41–63</i> | 33 34 | 99 <i>92–100</i> 99 <i>95–100</i> | 0.7 |
| EQ5D | CFP Corail | 38 40 | 0.47 <i>0.12–0.73</i> 0.23 <i>0.06–0.7</i> | 34 32 | 0.92 <i>0.87–0.97</i> 0.93 <i>0.80–0.97</i> | 0.6 |
| EQ-VAS | CFP Corail | 36 40 | 60 <i>33–84</i> 60 <i>38–70</i> | 33 36 | 80 <i>63–90</i> 80 <i>75–89</i> | 0.9 |
| VAS Pain | CFP Corail | 38 40 | 70 <i>56–78</i> 64 <i>54–78</i> | 34 36 | 4 1–25 9 1–21 | 0.8 |
| VAS Satisfaction | CFP Corail | | | 34 36 | 91.5 70–99 96.5 90–100 | 0.15 |
| UCLA | CFP Corail | 38 41 | 5 4–6 5 4–6 | 33 34 | 6 5–6 6 5.5–6 | 0.7 |

Table 14. Patient-reported outcome measures and Harris Hip Score. VAS pain and VAS satisfaction were reported on a scale 0–100 where 0 is the best result. EQ-VAS was reported on a scale 0–100 where 100 is the best result. *Mann-Whitney U-test

A statistically significant improvement of UCLA activity scores from median 4 to 6 was observed in both groups between 2 and 5 years (CFP p = 0.008; Corail p = 0.004, Wilcoxon's signed rank test). None of the other PROMs confirmed an improvement within this period.

5.2.2.1 REVISION

Two patients operated with the CFP stem were revised before the 2-year follow-up due to aseptic loosening. One Corail stem was revised due to chronic infection. No patient was revised due to loosening of the acetabular component.

5.2.3 RADIOLOGICAL RESULTS

5.2.3.1 RSA

In total, 35 CFP stems and 36 Corail stems had complete RSA follow-up at 5 years. During the first months postoperatively, medial, distal and posterior migration was seen in both groups. During the first 3 months, the Corail stems showed greater posterior migration (corresponding to retroversion of the femoral head) than the CFP stems did (p = 0.04). The magnitude of the migration in the other two directions did not differ during the same period (medial-lateral p = 0.5, proximal-distal p = 0.06; Mann Whitney U-test). The stems then stabilized and little further migration could be seen beyond 3 months postoperatively, **Figure 27**.







Figure 27. Mean migration (mm) ±2 standard error of the mean.

In linear mixed models up to 5 years no statistically significant difference could be seen **(Table 15)**.

| Direction or type of migration | Ration of estimated mean (95% CI) |
|--------------------------------|-----------------------------------|
| Medial or lateral | 1.33 (0.79-2.23) |
| Proximal or distal | 1.16 (0.67-1.99) |
| Anterior or posterior | 0.72 (0.42-1.34) |

Table 15. Overall treatment effect CFP/Corail up to 5 years.

Between 3 months and 2 years only small movements were detected. To analyse late migration in the individual stem, migration between 2 and 5 years was calculated. The findings are described in **Table 16**; no statistically significant difference could be seen between groups. In total, 7 CFP and 9 Corail stems migrated above the detection limit for RSA along any of the cardinal axes between 2 and 5 years. In the CFP group, 5 stems showed migration in either the medial-lateral or the proximal-distal direction and 2 stems migrated in two directions (medial-lateral and proximal-distal). In the Corail group, 6 stems migrated in both the medial-lateral or proximal-distal direction, and 2 stems migrated in both the medial-lateral and proximal-distal direction. In one case, the stem showed migration in all three directions and had radiological signs of loosening. At 5 years, no revision surgery was planned for this patient.

| | Type of stem | Median (mm) interquartile range | p-value* |
|--------------------------|-----------------|------------------------------------|----------|
| 2–5 years | | | |
| Medial(+)-lateral(-) | CFP | 0.04 -0.02-0.07 | 0.42 |
| | Corail | -0.01 <i>-0.09–0.08</i> | |
| Proximal(+)-distal(-) | CFP | -0.04 -0.12-0.06 | 0.14 |
| | Corail | -0.09 -0.16-0.03 | |
| Anterior(+)-posterior(-) | CFP | 0.01 -0.14-0.07 | 0.13 |
| | Corail | -0.08 -0.18-0.08 | |

Table 16. Migration 2–5 years. * Mann-Whitney U-test

5.2.3.2 BMD

At 3 to 6 months, proximal reduction of BMD was observed in both groups. However, the CFP stems showed more marked resorption in the proximal zones during the first months postoperatively. After 6 to 12 months, there was restitution of proximal BMD in both groups, but this started later and was less pronounced in the CFP group. At 5 years, there was a statistically significantly difference in BMD change in Gruen zones 1, 3 and 7, with less restitution in the CFP group (Gruen zone 1 p = 0.004, Gruen zone 3 p = 0.007, Gruen zone 7 p = 0.007, T-test) **(Table 17 and Figure 28)**.

 Table 17. Mean change in BMD, only patients with complete examinations (CFP 24, Corail 29) at all follow-up occasions are presented.

 Independent T-test. P-value calculations at 5 years included all available examinations. *Independent T-test

| Gruen zone | Type of stem | 3-month mean change in % 95% Cl | 6-month mean change in % 95% CI | 1-year mean change in % 95%Cl | 2-year mean change in % 95% Cl | 5-year mean change in % 95% Cl | p- value* at 5 years |
|---------------|-----------------|---------------------------------------|---------------------------------------|-------------------------------------|--------------------------------------|--------------------------------------|-------------------------------|
| Ļ | СЕР | -11.6 -14.9–(-8.4) | -13.0 -16.2–(-9.8) | -13.4 -17.9–(-8.9) | -10.2 -14.4–(-6.0) | -9.1 -14.1–(-4.1) | 0.004 |
| | Corail | -3.5 -11.5-4.5 | -6.5 -10.2–(-2.7) | -2.4 -7.8–3.0 | 2.2 -4.6–9.0 | -0.2-4.8-4.4 | |
| 2 | CFP | -6.1 -8.8–(-3.4) | -6.2 -9.2–(-3.2) | -7.5 -11.1–(-3.9) | -6.8 -10.6–(-3.0) | -9.9 -15.4–(-4.4) | 0.07 |
| | Corail | -5.7 -9.5–(-2.0) | -3.4 -5.5–(-1.3) | -2.4 -5.1–0.3 | -2.4 -6.0–1.3 | -4.0 -8.0-(-0.4) | |
| m | CFP | -6.4 -10.7–(-2.1) | -3.1 -6.8–0.6 | -6.2 -12.1–(-0.1) | -1.7 -6.7–3.3 | -5.3 -8.8-(-1.7) | 0.007 |
| | Corail | 3.9 -5.6–(-2.2) | -1.9 -3.7–(-0.1) | -0.2 -2.5–2.0 | 0.7 -1.6–3.1 | 1.4 -2.2–5.0 | |
| 4 | CFP | 1.4 -5.7–8.6 | 2.6 -4.4–9.6 | 2.6 -4.7–9.9 | 2.3 -5.7–10.3 | 0.2 -7.7–8.0 | 0.6 |
| | Corail | -1.9 -3.2–(-0.7) | -1.0 -2.0-0.0 | 0.15 -1.1–1.4 | 1.1 -0.7–2.8 | -1.7 -4.5–1.1 | |
| ъ | СЕР | -3.7 -7.0–(-0.4) | -4.1 -8.3–0.12 | -0.2 -3.7–3.7 | -0.9 -4.9–3.0 | 0.6 -2.4–3.6 | 0.6 |
| | Corail | -1.2 -3.3–0.9 | 0.2 -1.6–1.1 | 0.8 -1.1–2.7 | 2.2 1.4–6.4 | 2.1 -3.3–7.5 | |
| 9 | CFP | -5.2 -10.1–(-0.2) | -2.4 -7.6–2.8 | -2.3 -8.0–3.4 | -7.2 -13.5–(-0.9) | -8.2 -17.1–0.6 | 0.1 |
| | Corail | -2.2 -5.8–1.4 | -1.6 -5.0–1.8 | 1.0 -2.3-4.3 | 1.3 -2.8–5.4 | -1.1 -7.4–5.2 | |
| 7 | CFP | -14.3 -19.1–(-9.5) | -19.3 -24.3–(-14.3) | -23.0 -29.6–(-16.3) | -25.7 -33.3–(-18.2) | -22.9 -29.8–(-16.1) | 0.007 |
| | Corail | -11.8 -17.5–(-6.2) | -12.2 -17.5–(-7.0) | -12.7 -18.1–(-7.4) | -11.1 -16.8–(-5.5) | -9.8 -16.7–(-2.9) | |

94






Figure 28. Zones with significant differences in BMD. Mean change % ±2 standard errors of the mean.

In the linear mixed models, CFP showed significantly increased reduction in zone 1 (p = 0.002), 2 (p = 0.046), 3 (p = 0.027), 6 (p = 0.041), and 7 (p = 0.004) **(Table 18)**.

| Gruen Zone | Difference, % (95% Cl) |
|------------|------------------------|
| 1 | -9.4 (-14.3 – (-4.6)) |
| 2 | -3.4 (-6.7 – (-0.1)) |
| 3 | -3.2 (-6.1 – (-0.4)) |
| 4 | 1.8 (-2.9 –6.5) |
| 5 | -1.8 (-4.5 – 0.9) |
| 6 | -5.4 (-10.6 – (-0.2)) |
| 7 | -9.6 (-15.9 – (-3.2)) |

Table 18. Difference of mean BMD loss in % based on all available observation up to5 years

5.2.3.3 CONVENTIONAL RADIOGRAPHS

Partial resorption of the remaining proximal femoral neck was observed in six patients (all CFP). In four of the six patients the process of resorption began in the first postoperative year, in the remaining cases it started after 1 and 2 years, respectively (Figure 29). None of the Corail stems had any radiographically visible proximal resorption.

There was no difference in clinical outcome between patients with neck resorption and those without. The median OHS in patients with neck resorption at 5 years was 47 (range 36–48).

The Corail stems were more prone to developing proximal radiolucent lines than the CFP stems. At 5 years, none of the CFP stems showed radiolucent lines on the anteroposterior view, whereas two had lines on the lateral view (two in Gruen zones 8 and 14 and one in zone 9 as well). In these cases, the radiolucent lines occupied less than 15% of the stem-bone interface. Fourteen Corail stems showed radiolucent lines on the anteroposterior view in zones 1 and 7. Nine hips had lines on the lateral view corresponding to zones 8, 9 and 14. In two hips, the total lengths of the lines were 19% and 15% on the anteroposterior view and 21% and 19% on the lateral view, respectively. The remaining stems had radiolucent lines < 15% on either view.

CFP stems more often showed spot welding, cortical hypertrophy and tip sclerosis. In total, 37% of the CFP stems had any of these radiological findings or a combination of them. Only one Corail stem showed any of these findings.



Figure 29. Neck resorption ratio (NRR) in 6 CFP stems. Neck resorption at different follow-up occasions calculated as a percentage: remaining neck length divided by postoperative length

5.3 PAPER III

5.3.1 BASELINE DEMOGRAPHICS

The baseline demographics in the 44 patients with bilateral hip arthroplasties are presented in **Table 19**.

| Factor | Patients N = 44 |
|---|---------------------------|
| Age, years, mean (95% CI) Median (IQR) | 59 (56–61) 59 (55-65) |
| Sex, male/female | 22/22 |
| Diagnosis, nr (%) Osteoarthritis, primary Osteoarthritis, secondary Missing | 39 (88) 2 (5) 3 (7) |
| ASA class 1 2 3 >4 missing | 12 26 3 0 3 |
| BMI (kg/m²) Median (IQR) | 26.5 (22.8–30.4) |
| Charnley class A B C Missing | 0 15 14 15 |

Table 19. Baseline demographics.

5.3.2 CLINICAL RESULTS

Each patient's opinion on which hip was best at the 2-year follow-up was used as primary outcome. This was evaluated with use of the My hip form. Patients tended to be more satisfied with the hip operated with the CLS stem, but without any statistically significant difference. This tendency was evident also at 5 years, but still without statistical significance, **Table 20**.

| | Implant | | 2 years | <i>P</i> - value at 2 years* | | 5 years | P- value at 5 years* |
|--|-----------------------------------|----|-------------------------|---------------------------------------|----|-------------------------|-------------------------------|
| Question | | n | Distribution of answers | | n | Distribution of answers | |
| Which hip is strongest? | Similar Fitmore CLS | 37 | 14 8 15 | 0.13 | 33 | 13 9 11 | 0.79 |
| Do you have pain in or on the outside of your thigh? | Both Fitmore CLS Neither | 37 | 3 6 3 25 | 0.79 | 33 | 2 6 4 21 | 0.76 |
| Do you consider your hip to be unstable? | Both Fitmore CLS Neither | 37 | 0 4 1 32 | 0.36 | 34 | 0 3 1 29 | 0.61 |
| Which hip has the best overall function? | Both Fitmore CLS | 37 | 18 7 12 | 0.14 | 34 | 18 5 10 | 0.24 |

 Table 20. My Hip scores. *Fisher's exact test.

The patients reported improved joint function, life quality and satisfaction during the first year postoperatively. Thereafter, no further improvement was observed **(Figure 30, Table 21).**





Table 21. Clinical outcome Study IV. Patient-reported outcome measures and Harris Hip Score. VAS pain and VAS satisfaction were reported on a scale 0–100 where 0 is the best result. EQ-VAS was reported on a scale 0–100 where 100 is the best result * Wilcoxon's signed rank test, # assessed bilaterally.

| | Pr | eoperative | | 5 years | p-value* |
|--------------------------------------|----------|------------------------------------|----------|--------------------------------------|----------|
| Instrument | n | Median IQR | n | Median IQR | 5 years |
| General health | <u> </u> | | · · · · | | |
| SF-36 Mental Physical | 37 | 47 <i>38–54</i> 23 <i>18–29</i> | 33 | 55 <i>48–57</i> 50 <i>41–54</i> | n/a |
| EQ5D | 40 | 0.68 <i>0.59–</i> <i>0.76</i> | 33 | 0.93 <i>0.87–0.97</i> | n/a |
| EQ-VAS | 40 | 38 <i>30–64</i> | 32 | 81 <i>75–90</i> | n/a |
| UCLA | 39 | 3 <i>3–6</i> | 32 | 6 6.0–7.5 | n/a |
| Hip-specific | | | | | |
| VAS Pain # | | | | | |
| Fitmore CLS | 40 40 | 70 <i>60–77</i> 70 <i>60–77</i> | 25 25 | 5 0–27 5 0–17 | 0.3 |
| VAS Satisfaction # Fitmore CLS | | | 25 25 | 3 0–25 3 0–23 | 0.3 |
| Harris Hip Score # Fitmore CLS | 21 21 | 43 <i>43–56</i> 42 <i>31–53</i> | 33 33 | 99 <i>99–100</i> 99 <i>97–100</i> | 0.7 |

•

5.3.2.1 REVISIONS

Three patients (4 hips) were revised before the 5-year follow-up. In one case, the patient suffered from an early PJI and was bilaterally revised. One Fitmore stem was revised due to aseptic loosening within the first year postoperatively. In the second year postoperatively, one hip (Fitmore) was revised due to chronic infection. In these cases, data were excluded from the date of revision.

5.3.3 RADIOLOGICAL RESULTS

5.3.3.1 RSA

Initial migration (first 3 months postoperatively) followed by stabilization was seen in both groups. After the initial migration, little further migration was seen in either group **(Figure 31)**. No statistically significant difference could be seen in any direction at 3 months. (Medial-lateral p=0.3; Proximal-distal p=0.7; Anterior-posterior p=0.9, Wilcoxon's signed rank test)







Figure 31. Mean migrations in $mm \pm 2$ standard error of the mean.

To evaluate individual late migration, change between 2 and 5 years were calculated. These calculations showed minor migration, nevertheless some stems showed migration above the detection limits. In total, 7 implants showed migration above the detection limit between 2 and 5 years. One Fitmore stem showed migration in both the proximal-distal and anterior-posterior directions and 6 hips (3 Fitmore and 3 CLS) showed migration only proximally or distally. The patient with migration in two directions on the side with a Fitmore stem showed no radiological signs of loosening and had excellent clinical results. Migration of the two types of stem between 2 and 5 years is shown in **Table 22**.

| | Type of stem | Median (mm) <i>IQR</i> 2–5 years | p- value* |
|--------------------------|-----------------|-------------------------------------|--------------|
| Nr | | 33 | |
| Medial(+)-lateral(-) | Fitmore | 0.07 -0.04-0.13 | 0.68 |
| | CLS | 0.03 -0.05-0.08 | |
| Proximal(+)-distal(-) | Fitmore | -0.01 -0.15-0.07 | 0.70 |
| | CLS | -0.02 -0.09–0.06 | |
| Anterior(+)-posterior(-) | Fitmore | -0.07 -0.21-0.13 | 0.18 |
| | CLS | -0.01 <i>-0.11–0.08</i> | |

 Table 22. Migration between 2-5 years. *Wilcoxon's signed rank test.

5.3.3.2 BMD

At 5 years, 27 patients (54 hips) had complete follow-up on all occasions. No statistically significant differences were found between implants at 5 years. Both sides showed an early loss of proximal BMD followed by restitution. In Gruen zone 1, the Fitmore had lost slightly more BMD at 2 years (p = 0.001),

but the difference had become statistically insignificant at 5 years (p = 0.09). A marked loss could be seen in Gruen zone 7. However, no statistically significant differences were observed at either 2 or 5 years (p = 0.44 and p = 0.39, respectively, paired T-tests) (Figure 32, Table 23). All other zones showed similar pattern of resorption or gain in BMD.



Figure 32. Mean change in percent ±2 standard error of the mean

| ~ |
|-------------------------|
| \sim |
| <u> </u> |
| S |
| Π |
| <u> </u> |
| - |
| <u> </u> |
| 0 |
| ~ |
| ~ |
| _ |
| ÷., |
| - |
| ~ |
| ~ |
| ~ |
| - |
| 0 |
| .= |
| _ |
| _ |
| |
| _ |
| m |
| تن |
| 5 |
| 0 |
| _ |
| |
| _ |
| <u> </u> |
| - |
| 0 |
| |
| |
| ~ |
| E |
| B |
| ign |
| sign |
| esign |
| esign |
| Design |
| Design |
| n Design |
| n Design |
| m Design |
| em Design |
| em Design |
| tem Design |
| Stem Design |
| Stem Design |
| f Stem Design |
| of Stem Design |
| of Stem Design |
| of Stem Design |
| e of Stem Design |
| ce of Stem Design |
| ice of Stem Design |
| nce of Stem Design |
| ence of Stem Design |
| ence of Stem Design |
| uence of Stem Design |
| uence of Stem Design |
| fluence of Stem Design |
| ifluence of Stem Design |
| nfluence of Stem Design |

Table 23. Mean change in BMD in %. Only patients (n = 27) with complete follow-up at 5 years were included in the analysis. *Paired T-test.

| Gruen zone | Type of stem | 3-month mean change in % 95% Cl | 6-month mean change in % 95% Cl | 1-year mean change in % 95% CI | 2-year mean change in % 95% Cl | 5-year mean change in % 95% Cl | p-value* at 2-years | p-value* at 5-years |
|------------|--------------|---------------------------------------|---------------------------------------|---|---|---|------------------------|------------------------|
| 1 | Fitmore | -3.8 -8.2- 0.7 | -4.4 -8.9–0.1 | -4.7 -10.2-0.8 | -3.1 -8.3–2.0 | -1.3 -6.9–4.4 | 0.001 | 60.0 |
| | CLS | -0.9 -6.2- 4.4 | 2.1 -4.1–8.3 | 6.4 -1.2–14 | 7.1 -0.9–15.1 | 4.5 -3.3–12.3 | | |
| 2 | Fitmore | -7.8 -11.24.3 | -6.1 -10.3–(-1.8) | -4.7 -8.8–(-0.5) | -5.5 -10.1–(-1.1) | -6.2 -12.0–(-0.5) | 0.07 | 0.71 |
| | CLS | -2.0 -4.7- 0.7 | -1.7 -5.5–2.1 | 1.3 -2.2-4.8 | -1.7 -4.3-0.9 | -5.4 -9.61.1) | | |
| m | Fitmore | -5.8 -8.03.6 | -3.8 -6.5–(-1.2) | -1.1 -4.1–1.9 | -0.8 -3.7–2.0 | 0.8 -4.4–5.9 | 0.76 | 0.12 |
| | CLS | -3.2 -5.70.6 | -2.1 -4.5-0.3 | -0.9 -3.4–1.5 | -0.3 -2.8–2.3 | 4.4 -1.3–10.2 | | |
| 4 | Fitmore | -2.4 -3.61.1 | -0.3 -1.9–1.3 | 1.4 -0.8–3.6 | 2.4 0.4–4.4 | 0.8 -2.4–4.0 | 0.36 | 0.77 |
| | CLS | -1.3 -2.30.2 | -0.6 -1.8-0.7 | 0.1 -1.2-1.5 | 1.4 -0.1–2.8 | 1.3 -0.8–3.3 | | |
| ß | Fitmore | -0.9 -2.3- 0.5 | 2.1 -0.1–4.2 | 3.6 0.9–6.3 | 5.1 2.6–7.7 | 5.2 2.6–7.9 | 0.12 | 0.15 |
| | CLS | -2.2 -3.80.7 | -1.1 -3.2–1.0 | 0.01 -2.3–2.4 | 2.9 0.5–5.3 | 2.6 -0.2–5.4 | | |
| 9 | Fitmore | 3.8 -1.9- 9.6 | 5.7 -2.3–13.7 | 9.9 2.1–17.7 | 7.7 -0.3–15.7 | 0.4 -7.0-7.8 | 0.48 | 0.34 |
| | CLS | 0.6 -3.1- 4.4 | 2.0 -2.5–6.4 | 7.6 2.2–13.0 | 4.7 -0.1–9.5 | 3.5 -2.0–9.0 | | |
| ٢ | Fitmore | -12.0 -16.47.6 | -14.0 -18.8–(-9.2) | -12.4 -18.5–(-6.4) | -13.2 -19.5–(-6.8) | -10.0 - <i>19.3–(-0.6)</i> | 0.44 | 0.39 |
| | CLS | -11.6 -16.46.8 | -14.8 -20.1–(-9.5) | -13.0 - <i>19.0–(-6.9)</i> | -15.6 -21.0–(-10.2) | -14.3 -21.17.6) | | |
| | | | | | | | | |

5.3.3.3 CONVENTIONAL RADIOGRAPHS

In 9 cases (6 Fitmore, 3 CLS), there were radiolucent lines on either the anteroposterior or the lateral view. One Fitmore and one CLS showed radiolucent lines on both the anteroposterior and the lateral view. In the remaining cases (5 Fitmore, 2 CLS), there were radiolucent lines in one projection. The relative length of the lines did not exceed 20% of the implant-bone interface in any projection for any hip.

5.4 PAPER IV

5.4.1 BASELINE DEMOGRAPHICS

A total of 16,258 of short stems and 32,515 standard stems fulfilled inclusion criteria and were included. The baseline demographics are presented in **Table 24**. There are some differences in patient characteristics between the registries. In the Swedish population, the patients tended to be slightly younger. In the Netherlands, more women were operated with short stem THA and the matched cohort therefore included more women as well. In Australia, more patients were classed as ASA 3 or 4 and they tended to have a higher BMI. No patient in Sweden was operated using the DAA, whereas this was most common approach in Australia and the second most common in the Netherlands.

 Table 24. Baseline demographics.

| | Total | |
|--|------------------------|---------------------------|
| | Short-stem primary THA | Standard-stem primary THA |
| Nr of patients | 16,258 | 32,515 |
| Age, years (mean, SD)) | 63 (11.4) | 63 (11.1) |
| Sex | | |
| Male (%) | 7,791 (48) | 15,231 (47) |
| Female (%) | 8,467 <i>(52)</i> | 17,284 (53) |
| BMI ¹ , kg/m ² (mean (SD)) | 28.4 (5.4) | 29 (5.5) |
| ASA ² | | |
| I | 3,169 <i>(19)</i> | 4,999 (15) |
| II | 8,649 <i>(54)</i> | 17,266 <i>(53)</i> |
| III ³ | 3,261 <i>(20)</i> | 8,067 (25) |
| IV | 161 (1) | 377 (1) |
| Unknown | 1,013 <i>(6)</i> | 1,965 <i>(6)</i> |
| Diagnosis | | |
| Osteoarthritis | 15,089 <i>(93)</i> | 30,516 <i>(94)</i> |
| Other | 1,169 (7) | 1,999 <i>(6)</i> |
| | | |
| Surgical approach | | |
| Direct anterior | 9,118 <i>(56)</i> | 14,975 <i>(46)</i> |
| Direct lateral, lateral | 1,665 <i>(10</i>) | 4,242 (13) |
| Posterior, lateral | 3,707 <i>(23)</i> | 9,878 <i>(30)</i> |
| Other | 47 (0.3) | 59 <i>(0.2)</i> |
| Unknown⁴ | 1,722 (11) | 3,361 <i>(10)</i> |

5.4.2 CUMULATIVE REVISION RATES OF PRIMARY THA

At 12 years, the CRRs did not differ between groups. The CRR was 4.7% (CI 4.1–5.5%, number at risk = 720) for short stems and 4.8% (CI 4.3–5.3%, number at risk = 1,463) for standard stems (log-rank test, p = 0.07) (Figure 33). When data were separated by country, the CRRs differed slightly with the Netherlands having statistically significantly higher revision rates with short stems (Table 25).



Figure 33. Overall revision rate, all revisions all reasons.

| | N at risk | Short ¹ (95% Cl) | N at risk | Standard ² (95% CI) | Р* |
|---------|-----------|-----------------------------|-----------|--------------------------------|---------|
| AOANJRR | 167 | 3.2 (2.7–3.8) | 298 | 5.2 (4.5–6.0) | 0.09 |
| LROI | 326 | 5.6 (4.3–7.3) | 614 | 2.5 (1.9–3.4) | < 0.001 |
| SAR | 227 | 7.6 (5.9–9.8) | 551 | 6.0 (4.8–7.4) | 0.08 |

 Table 25. CRR at 12 years. *Log rank test.

¹Short stem primary THA ²Standard stem primary THA

5.4.3 FIRST REVISION SURGERY

A total of 427 revisions were identified in the short stem group, of which 239 (56%) were registered as stem revisions. There was information on the stem used in first revision in 222 (93%) of those 239 cases. The corresponding figures for the standard group were 756 revisions, of which 352 (47%) were stem revisions, with information on the revision implant used available in 343 (93%) cases. Baseline demographics for all revisions and stem revisions are presented in **Table 26**.

| Baseline demographics | All reasons, a | ll revisions | Femoral revisions | |
|---|--------------------|-----------------------|--------------------|-----------------------|
| Primary surgery | Short ¹ | Standard ² | Short ¹ | Standard ² |
| N of THAs | 427 | 756 | 239 | 352 |
| Age, years (mean, SD) | 63 <i>(12.3)</i> | 63 (11.8) | 64.4 (11.6) | 64.6 <i>(11.8)</i> |
| Sex | | | | |
| Male (%) | 219 <i>(51)</i> | 358 (47) | 137 <i>(57)</i> | 179 <i>(51)</i> |
| BMI, kg/m ² <i>(SD)</i> ³ | 29 <i>(6)</i> | 30.2 <i>(6.1)</i> | 28.9 <i>(6)</i> | 29.5 <i>(5.8)</i> |
| ASA classification ⁴ | | | | |
| T | 67 <i>(16)</i> | 80 (11) | 41 <i>(17)</i> | 37 (11) |
| II | 189 <i>(44)</i> | 343 <i>(45)</i> | 105 <i>(44)</i> | 159 <i>(45)</i> |
| III ⁵ | 130 <i>(30)</i> | 275 <i>(37)</i> | 71 (30) | 130 <i>(37)</i> |
| IV | 7 (2) | 18 <i>(2)</i> | 5 <i>(2)</i> | 7 (2) |
| Missing | 34 <i>(8)</i> | 40 <i>(5)</i> | 17 (7) | 19 (5) |

| Table 26. | Baseline | demograph | ics stem | revisions. | Ν | (%) |
|-----------|----------|-----------|----------|------------|---|------|
| | | | | | | 1/0/ |

¹Short stem primary THA

²Standard stem primary THA

³Since 2014 in the LROI and since 2015 in AOANJRR.

⁴Since 2012 in the AOANJRR.

⁵ASA III and ASA IV are merged in the LROI.

No difference could be seen between groups as regards reason for revision. (chi-square test, p = 0.3), **Table 27.**

| Reason for revision | All revisions | ; | Femoral revis | ions |
|-------------------------|--------------------|-----------------------|--------------------|-----------------------|
| Primary surgery | Short ¹ | Standard ² | Short ¹ | Standard ² |
| N of THAs | 427 | 756 | 239 | 352 |
| PJI | 75 <i>(17.7)</i> | 193 <i>(25.5)</i> | 30 <i>(12.6)</i> | 55 (15.6) |
| Aseptic loosening | 142 (33.4) | 214 (28.3) | 88 <i>(36.8)</i> | 140 <i>(39.8)</i> |
| Periprosthetic fracture | 88 (20.7) | 124 (16.4) | 79 (33) | 107 <i>(30.3)</i> |
| Dislocation | 52 (12.3) | 124 (16.4) | 9 (3.8) | 20 <i>(5.7)</i> |
| Other | 64 (15) | 95 <i>(12.6)</i> | 31 (13.0) | 28 <i>(8)</i> |
| Missing | 6 <i>(0.9)</i> | 6 | 2 (0.8) | 2 (0.6) |

Table 27. Reasons for revisions N (%).

¹Short stem primary THA ²Standard stem primary THA

It was more common to revise a short stem with a stem of standard length; this was seen in 58% of the cases. The corresponding share in the standard stem group was 48% (p = 0.02, **Table 28**). In the Australian cohort: two standard stems were revised using a short stem (MiniMax) possibly representing a registration error. Exclusion of these stems did not alter the results (p = 0.01) Sub-analysis of only aseptic stem revisions did not alter the results either (p = 0.01).

 Table 28. Stems used in first revision surgery N (%). *Chi-squared test.

| | Stem inserted | | |
|-----------------------|---------------|----------|------|
| Stem extracted | Total | | p* |
| length | < 160 mm | ≥ 160 mm | |
| Short ¹ | 129 (58) | 93 (42) | |
| Standard ² | 165 (48) | 178 (52) | 0.02 |

¹Short stem primary THA

²Standard stem primary THA

When sensitivity analysis was performed by sex and age, no difference in choice of stem used in revision was seen in the female group (p = 0.7). In the male group, on the other hand, short stems were significantly more often (63%) revised using a stem with a length of less than 160 mm (p = 0.005) **(Table 29).**

Age older than the median (63 years) was correlated with using a longer stem in revision surgery (60%) when a standard stem was used for the primary surgery (p = 0.001). In the younger age group, there was a tendency to use a stem less than 160 mm when a short stem was revised (63%), but the difference was not statistically significant (p = 0.3) **(Table 30)**.

| | Stem inserted | | |
|---|--|--|-------|
| Stem extracted length | Total p* | | |
| | < 160 mm | ≥ 160 mm | |
| Female | | | |
| Short ¹ | 49 <i>(52)</i> | 46 <i>(48)</i> | 0.7 |
| Standard ² | 82 (49) | 85 (<i>51)</i> | |
| Male | | | |
| Short ¹ | 80 <i>(65)</i> | 47 (35) | 0.005 |
| Standard ² | 82 (47) | 94 <i>(53)</i> | |
| Standard ² <i>Male</i> Short ¹ Standard ² | 82 (<i>49</i>) 80 (<i>65</i>) 82 (<i>47</i>) | 85 (<i>51</i>) 47 (<i>35</i>) 94 (<i>53</i>) | 0.005 |

Table 29. Choice of stem in first revision stratified by sex N (%). *Chi-square test.

¹Short stem primary THA ²Standard stem primary THA

| | Stem inserted | | |
|-----------------------|---------------|----------|------|
| Stem extracted | Total | | p* |
| length | < 160mm | < 160mm | |
| ≤ 63 years | | | |
| Short ¹ | 57 (63) | 33 (37) | 0.3 |
| Standard ² | 91 (56) | 70 (44) | |
| > 63 years | | | |
| Short ¹ | 72 (55) | 60 (45) | 0.01 |
| Standard ² | 73 (40) | 109 (60) | |
| - | | | |

Table 30. Choice of stem used in first revision, stratified by age N (%).*Chi-square test.

¹Short stem primary THA ²Standard stem primary THA

5.4.4 SECOND REVISION SURGERY

In total, 79 second revisions (18.5% of all first revisions) could be identified in the short stem group. The corresponding figure for the standard-length group was 142 (18.7%). All second revisions were included in the analysis, regardless of type and reason for revision. The reasons for second revisions differed slightly from the reasons for first revisions, **Table 31**. Periprosthetic infections were the reason for more than 50% of the second revisions. Reasons for second revisions were equally distributed between groups (chi-squared test 0.6).

| | Total | |
|-------------------------------------|----------------|----------------|
| Type of stem ¹ | Short | Standard |
| N of 2 nd revisions | 79 | 142 |
| Reason for 2 nd revision | | |
| PJI | 41 (52) | 81 <i>(57)</i> |
| Aseptic loosening | 15 <i>(19)</i> | 25 (17.6) |
| Periprosthetic fracture | 4 (5) | 3 (2.1) |
| Dislocation | 11 (14) | 23 (16) |
| Other | 7 (0.09) | 10 <i>(7)</i> |
| Missing | 1 (1.3) | 0 |

Table 31. Reasons for second revisions. N (%).

¹ stem used at primary THA

At 5 years, the cumulative rate of second revisions was 19.7% (95% Cl 15.8–24.3) in the short stem group. In the standard-length group, the corresponding rate of second revisions was 21.1% (95% Cl 18–24.8, log rank test p = 0.7) (Figure 34).



Figure 34. Overall rate of second revisions



6 DISCUSSION

6.1 STUDIES I, II AND III

6.1.1 **PROMS**

6.1.1.1 HIP-SPECIFIC PROMS

No significant differences could be seen between implants in any of the studies included in this thesis. All three studied implants performed as well as the reference. No studies on PROM results for the SP-CL stem have been published previously. As regards the CFP and Fitmore stems, our findings are supported by earlier studies, although clinical results for the CFP have not been evaluated in RCTs. (34, 175-180) The Fitmore has been evaluated in comparison to the CLS stem in one earlier study, results being similar to ours. (181)

Patients, as a group, tended to be satisfied with the operation. However, both the OHS and the HHS suffer from ceiling effects. (110, 111) Patients nowadays have high expectations on physical function and might not be satisfied with their hip function even if they have high scores on the OHS or the HHS. In the OHS, the highest score on physical function is described as being able to walk for 30 minutes or more, getting dressed independently and doing housework without pain. Many patients have higher demands on hip function today. Patients, especially younger ones, want to be able to go back to the same physical activity levels as before the onset of arthritis. This includes sporting activity. There is little evidence that even high impact sports lead to greater wear than more indolent lifestyles. (148) However, various studies show that returning to sports does not depend on the implant received during surgery, but rather on the activity level before surgery. (147, 182, 183)

The inability to differentiate between a good and an excellent result is a general problem when assessing THA, this applies also to the studies included in this thesis. New PROMs need to be developed to enable identification of implants with inferior or superior clinical results. The recently introduced but rarely used FJS might enable such differentiation. (110, 184)

6.1.1.2 GENERAL HEALTH

Pain and low physical function impact the general perception of health for most patients. Several earlier studies have shown that hip arthritis affects general health and that THA on correct indications improves general health. (82, 185)

This conclusion could also be drawn from the studies included in this thesis. Patients reported an increase in general health during the first year postoperatively, with values levelling out without further improvement after that. The same pattern was seen for all generic PROMs used in this thesis. The improvement did not differ between implants. In all three studies, patients report an EQ-VAS at approximately 80 points at 2 years, regardless of the implant used. EQ-VAS and EQ-5D tend to decrease with age, especially at ages over 70 years. (186) Given the mean age in our studies (approximately 65 years) a comparison with the normative population in Sweden yields roughly the same scores in the EQ-VAS and EQ-5D. (187) In conclusion, the patients included in our studies reported approximately the same general health as the population at large.

It is known that preoperative low general health, especially worse mental health, influences the outcome of THA. (83, 84, 87, 188) Patients with low general health report improvements following surgery but usually do not reach the same postoperative level as patients who score higher preoperatively in mental health PROMs. There is also a correlation between opioid use and clinical outcomes. (90, 92) It is not known whether this depends on the opioids or is rather a proxy for worse mental health and poor coping strategies for pain, indicating psychological issues.

120

6.1.1.3 REVISION AS OUTCOME

The implants in our studies showed the expected revision rates, not exceeding those in earlier studies on the specific implants or the revision rates of uncemented stems reported in national registries. (3, 5, 175, 177-180)

Revision rate is a robust outcome parameter after THA but has several shortcomings. Patients with failed implants might not be revised for many reasons, such as frailty, low activity level and poor general health. It could thus be argued that revision is a crude measure and a rare event preceded by a period of varying length with deteriorating function, with or without pain. For the individual surgeon, it may be difficult to detect inferior results for a specific implant. Due to a limited number of observations and the overall low revision rates of modern implants, each surgeon will struggle to see that an implant has increased incidence of mechanical failures such as loosening. A large cohort of patients must be followed for a long period of time, and resources for such projects are not regularly available. Therefore, the national registries collecting large amounts of data play an important role in detecting implants with inferior results.

6.1.2 RADIOLOGICAL OUTCOMES

6.1.2.1 RSA

All five implants included in our studies showed the same migration pattern. Initial subsidence, retroversion and medialization were followed by stabilization. At the group level, the stems showed stable migration patterns after 3 months, with little further movement in any direction.

The evidence is mounting that an initial migration followed by stabilization is acceptable for uncemented stems. (34, 119-124, 189) Even a large initial migration can be followed by stabilization. (118) The role of RSA in predicting aseptic loosening with uncemented implants is debated. For cemented

closed-shaped designs, there is a consensus that migration exceeding 0.15 mm during the first 2 years postoperatively indicates higher risk of future revision. There is still no evidence that this applies to uncemented stems as well. (190) Although there are no clearly defined limits on the magnitude of acceptable initial migration compatible with good long-term results for uncemented stems, stabilization should most probably occur early, with no or minimum migration occurring past 6 to 12 months after the operation. Fixation of uncemented stems relies on on-growth of bone, which cannot be achieved if there is continuous migration. (19)

In our studies, there were also patients with migration above the precision limits of RSA between the final two examinations. The movements recorded were small and often in only one or two directions. None of these patients was planned for revision surgery. It was also notable that patients operated with the Corail and CLS stems showed migration between the two last RSA examinations. Both these stems are known for their good long-term results in registries. Drawing firm conclusions on whether this late, small but detectable migration affects long-term fixation would require follow-up, preferably with RSA and as large cohorts as possible. It might also be that these small movements, at least in some of the cases, are an expression of bone remodelling around the stem, but this hypothesis requires further study.

6.1.2.2 BMD

Loss of proximal BMD may jeopardize any future femoral revision surgery, but there are no studies in which this potential problem has been quantified. In our studies, all implants exhibited the same resorption pattern with an initial decrease followed by stabilization and even an increase of BMD in some Gruen zones. The pattern of bone remodelling reflects postoperative load changes in accordance with Wolff's law and would be expected if any of the contemporary femoral components on the market was chosen. In our studies, all patients tended to lose proximal BMD. Both the SP-CL stems and the CFP stems, which are designed for a better distribution of load, exhibited more proximal bone loss than the Corail stems.

One benefit of short stems that has been brought forward is that they save proximal bone. The CFP stem and the Fitmore stem, which are both short stems, also showed a pattern of unloading of the proximal femur. We found that the CFP stems led to pronounced loss of BMD in proximal Gruen zones and, in many cases, some resorption of the remaining medial part of femoral neck. This has been reported in earlier studies on the CFP stems. However, the resorption does not seem to affect clinical results. (34, 191) There is little and somewhat conflicting evidence supporting the idea that short stems reduce proximal bone loss. (181, 192-195) A systematic review states that more research needs to be conducted and that the short stem designs have a large spectrum of shapes altering the load of the femur in different ways. (33) Neither of the short stems in this study seemed to have a more favourable pattern of BMD alterations compared with the reference stem.

In conclusion, although one of the main reasons to use a short stem is to save proximal femoral bone, none of the studied stem designs could be shown to do so.

6.1.2.3 RADIOGRAPHS

Radiographic changes surrounding stems are partly a result of the changed loading pattern inevitably occurring after THA. Radiolucent lines may indicate failure of osseointegration, which tends to appear in areas with poor implantbone contact and poor implant-bone load transfer. Generally, they occur in the proximal femur. Radiolucent lines involving more than 50% of the interface between implant and bone are regarded as associated with increased risk of clinical loosening. The clinical importance of proximal radiolucent lines smaller than 50% is not fully understood; earlier studies show no adverse clinical outcomes. (137, 138) Welding spots and cortical hypertrophy are results of stress contact and increased load. These radiographic changes reflect a change in bone mineral density. Cortical hypertrophy does not seem to influence clinical outcome but is rather a sign of increased load in the distal femur. (141, 196) In our studies, such changes were mainly observed with CFP stems, suggesting proximal unloading combined with increased load in the distal femur.

6.1.3 INTRODUCTION OF IMPLANTS

Although all implants studied in the three RCTs presented in this thesis have been on the market for some years, there is scarce scientific evidence for their efficacy.

The SP-CL has been on the market since 2014 but few clinical studies have thus far been performed. (123, 197) The stem performed as well as the Corail stem in this thesis, but large-scale multicentre studies are needed to consolidate the results.

The CFP stem was first introduced in the 1980s and has had its current design since the 1990s. (198) It has been on the market for more than 30 years, but there are few studies which compare its performance with a standard stem. The studies published thus far report similar results to those for standard stems, but no reference group has been used in any of the studies. (34, 175-178, 199-201)

The Fitmore stem has been on the market since 2007. There are few studies that have documented its performance, especially in the longer term. (140, 179-181, 196) Despite this, it is one of the most commonly used short stems in the Netherlands.

All these implants have been introduced to the market with scarce scientific evidence, with none of them following the algorithm for safe introduction of implants. Our studies showed little differences when compared with a reference stem; no benefits were seen from using the studied implants. Earlier studies on the CFP and Fitmore stem show revision rates in line with most contemporary stem designs, but questions regarding the long-term results remain.

6.1.4 LIMITATIONS STUDIES I-III

6.1.4.1 STUDIES I-III

In all our studies involving RSA, the femoral head was used as the reference for measurements. None of the implants was available with incorporated markers. This means that no data on stem rotations or translation of other parts of the stem was calculated. However, roughly medial-lateral femoral head translation could be interpreted as varus-valgus tilting and anteroposterior translations as anteversion or retroversion. A more comprehensive evaluation would probably not have influenced the overall results. Using the femoral head centre is a well-evaluated method, documented in several studies. (114, 126, 127)

6.1.4.2 STUDY I

When Study I, was started the SP-CL was available only in 126° CCD. Only patients with an anatomy suitable for this stem design were recruited, resulting in a loss of external validity.

6.1.4.3 STUDY III

The primary outcome used in Study III was not a validated PROM. However, to the best of our knowledge, there is no validated PROM designed for bilateral assessment. None of the other PROMs with bilateral assessment used in the study showed any difference between implants. Thus, one can assume that the results for the primary outcome are valid.

6.2 STUDY IV

6.2.1 REVISION RATES

In this study, the overall revision rate of short stem THAs did not differ from that of standard stem THAs. Earlier register-based studies and systematic reviews on revision of short stems support these findings. (202-208)

In the last few years, there have been some register-based studies on short stems. (202, 203, 205, 208) The reported mid-term revision rates (all reasons) in the studies are approximately 3% at 5 years, which is similar to those of standard stems, when adjusted for differences in population. No long-term results have been published, despite the increasing popularity of short stems. In the German register, they make up approximately 10% of the primary THAs. (202)

In our study as well as in earlier register-based studies, we found an abundance of stems used. This makes evaluation of revision rates difficult, as some implants have been used in very limited numbers. In the study based on data from the German register, only stems used in more than 2,000 cases were included in the analysis as an attempt to circumvent these difficulties. (202) Van Veghel et al. did a sub-analysis of the most common stems (Optimys and Fitmore), finding them to yield better survival rates than that for the cohort as a whole. (203) This is a common problem, when analysing survival rates of short stems: there is an abundance of designs, some of which might not be in use anymore. Survival rates of short stems as a group are difficult to interpret as the findings are highly dependent on what stems are included. This could also be regarded as problematic in our study, in which 14 stem design were included, some of which had been used in fewer than 100 cases. Further studies are needed to establish the survival rates of individual stem designs as they can be both better or worse than conventional stems. An earlier study from the AOANJRR also showed that newly introduced implants might have inferior results compared with established implants. (50)

Although initial results are promising, long-term results are still lacking. Short stems are intended for proximal fixation in an area exposed to a high degree of BMD loss, as a result of both altered loading and natural decline due to age. This might affect the stability of the stems in an aging population and lead to higher demands on revision later in life when such procedures may be jeopardized by frailty and poor general health.

6.2.2 REVISION OF SHORT STEMS

Standard-length stems were more often used in revision of short stem THAs than in revision of standard stem THAs. The CRR of first revisions was similar between the two cohorts studied up to 5 years. Implants used in primary surgery did not influence the outcome of first-time revisions, although short stem THAs were more often revised using a stem of standard length.

There is little evidence that a short stem is in fact easier to revise than a stem of standard length. To the best of our knowledge, there was only one previous study focusing on this – a finite element analysis where the Metha stem was revised with a CLS stem in synthetic bone. Loading of the CLS stem showed little movement and the conclusion was that a short stem could be revised using a stem of standard length. (209) This was an in vitro study, and its clinical relevance is uncertain. Revision surgery is often complex and there are many factors to consider when deciding on which implant to use. Loss of proximal bone mass, osteolysis, age of patient and reason for revision are among the factors influencing the choice of implant. In our study, there was a statistically significantly difference in choice of stem depending on the stem used in primary surgery. Short stems were more often revised using a stem shorter than 160 mm. A sub-analysis of revisions for aseptic reasons showed no change in results. When patients were stratified by age and sex, results changed slightly. Males in the short stem group were often revised using a stem shorter than 160 mm, but in females, there was no correlation between the stem used in primary surgery and the length of stem used in revision

surgery. In the analysis stratified by age, patients older than 63 years were more often revised using a stem longer than 160 mm when operated with a standard stem primarily. In the younger age group, no correlation was seen. These findings might reflect fear of poorer proximal bone stock with elderly and female patients, which influences surgeons to choose a longer stem with a higher degree of distal fixation. However, the groups in the stratified analysis were small and the distribution of revisions stems used might be due to chance. Nonetheless, the similar distribution of revision stems with standard and extended length observed in the younger age group call the use of short stems in these patients into question. More studies – preferably including radiographic information about bone loss at revision, difficulties met during implant removal and details about surgical technique are needed to improve our knowledge. One could draw parallels to large metal-on-metal articulation used for hip resurface replacements. These were initially considered to be easy to revise, but revision procedures were found to often become extensive due to pseudo-tumours. Nor is there evidence that short stems have other characteristics, such as biomechanical properties or higher levels of return to sports, making them superior to stems of standard length. (144, 183, 210)

Notwithstanding that short stems seem to have limited benefits if any, the overall CRR of first revisions was not influenced by the choice of stem in primary THA. This indicates that a short stem can be safely revised using a stem of standard length. The number of second revisions was small. It is difficult to draw any firm conclusions, but the share of aseptic second revisions was not higher in the short stem group. This supports the theory that short stems are bone-sparing and easier to revise, given that using a standard stem for revision is considered bone-sparing and easy.

6.2.3 LIMITATIONS STUDY IV

There are many limitations to the register-based study. First, it was based on register data and there might be incorrect registrations and missing data influencing the results. The categorization of stems used in first revisions was also crude, as it was based only on length or whether the stem was modular or not. Individual aspects such as comorbidities, osteolysis or loss of proximal bone stock affecting choice of stem were not considered. However, this affected both groups and should therefore not skew the results.

Ideally, the endpoint in Study IV would have been the CRR of stem revision, but as the AOANJRR did not include information about reason for exchange of individual components, only the CRR for all types of revision procedures could be analysed. The AOANJRR makes up the greater part of the total dataset. It was not meaningful to do separate analyses with use of stem revision as the endpoint based on the remaining data from the LROI and the SAR.

Although data were pooled from three large national registries, only 222 short stems could be included in the analysis of stems used in revision. No power analysis was performed; results might be partly due to chance. Nevertheless, as there were no earlier clinical studies on revision of short stems, we found the results noteworthy.


7 CONCLUSIONS

Overall conclusion:

No clinical differences were observed between study implants and controls. Most patients were satisfied with the result of the surgery and the implants regularly stabilized, usually within 3 months. Loss of proximal BMD was more pronounced with the CFP and SP-CL stem in contrast to the aim of the design. Short stems may have the advantage that they can be safely revised using a stem of standard length.

Specific conclusions:

- With the SP-CL stem no difference in clinical outcome could be detected and only minor differences in radiological changes was observed. The SP-CL had a more pronounced BMD loss in the proximal femur even though the aim of the design is a better distribution of load. (Paper I)
- The CFP performed as well as the Corail stem in the clinical evaluation. The implants showed small early migration patterns followed by stability. The CFP stem exhibited more pronounced BMD loss in the proximal femur opposed to the aim of its design. (Paper II)
- Patients undergoing one-stage bilateral THA with use of the Fitmore stem and the CLS stem reported equal clinical outcome on the two sides. No significant differences could be seen in the radiological assessment. (Paper III)
- In the register-based study, no difference could be seen in overall CRR in the short-stem group compared to the standard-stem group. If revised, short stems were more often revised using a stem of standard length (<160 mm) than did those standard stems that underwent revision. Despite this no difference could be seen in risk of a second revision between groups. These findings might support the theory of bone-sparing properties associated with use of short stems. (Paper IV)



8 FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

- Long-term evaluation of the studied implants, preferably in multicentre prospective studies.
- Further evaluation of RSA to establish guidelines for acceptable migration patterns in uncemented stems.
- Register-based long-term surveillance of individual short stem designs to identify designs with better or worse outcomes.
- Evaluation of other advantages of the short stems, such as shorter operation times, less postoperative pain or better functional outcome in patients with high physical activity.
- Studies on revision of short stems with special focus on preservation of the proximal femur.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This thesis would not been possible to write without the help of many. However, there are some people who I would like to especially thank:

Maziar Mohaddes, my main supervisor, you have been the accelerator in this project. Always encouraging me to perform at my best, regardless of situation. Thank you for all your support and endless energy.

Johan Kärrholm, my co-supervisor, some say they stand on the shoulders of giants; I say I have been carried in the arms of a giant. You have always been there answering my questions with patience and kindness. I still can't believe my luck that I've had the honour of having you as my supervisor in this project.

Georgios Tsikandylakis, my co-supervisor, you joined the project last minute but has nevertheless contributed with valuable feedback. I'm looking forward to future projects both clinical as well as scientific.

Mirthe van Veghel, Peter Lewis and all other co-author in Paper IV, thank you for an excellent cooperation between the SAR, LROI and AOANJRR registries. I hope there will be more collaborations in the future.

Anna Nilsdotter, Head of the department of Orthopaedics. Thank you for creating an environment where research and clinical work go hand in hand.

Tuuli Saari, Head of the arthroplasty section, for letting me take time to writing this thesis.

Bita Shareghi, Linda Stolpe, Helén Hagström, Britt-Marie Efraimsson, Inger Malchau and all other administrative personal for collecting data, analysing RSA and DXA examinations and keeping order of all the paperwork a study produces.

Gothenburg Medical Association and "Stiftelsen Gulbyxan" for financial support enabling the writing of the thesis.

Henrik Malchau, my colleague and clinical mentor, you have taught me much more than surgical technique. Your optimism has influenced me in more ways than you know. You took me on, and I've developed as a physician and surgeon more than I could ever have dreamed of the last couple of years. I'll always be grateful to you in so many ways.

Colleagues of the arthroplasty section, you've taken care of the patients while I've been writing. I'm looking forward to be a little more present in the everyday clinical work.

Former colleagues at Kungälv hospital, especially Anneli Lindberg, Urban Berg, Claes-Henrik Möse, Helena Edebo-Fredberg, Åke Sjöstedt and Lennart Gustafsson. You taught me that orthopaedics was not only about surgical technique. I will always cherish those first years of my career.

Roomies, thanks for all the laughter during the last 5 years. I hope there will be many more to come!

My mum Ulla, for always being there. Without your support there wouldn't have been a dissertation nor would I been able to continue working as an orthopaedic surgeon. You have never questioned my choice of career or whether it is compatible with being a full-time single mum.

Rest of family, friends, in-laws (Ingen nämnd, ingen glömd!) I'm looking forward celebrating this dissertation with you and drink loads of champagne!

Min älskade vän My, jag längtar efter att få dricka vin med dig i en prismakåta. Du kommer alltid att finnas i mitt liv och jag vet inte vad jag skulle göra utan dig.

Min finaste son Sixten, tack för att jag får vara din mamma. Jag är oändligt stolt över dig, du är det finaste jag har. Du är mittpunkten och ljuset i livet.

REFERENCES

- 1. Charnley J. Arthroplasty of the hip. A new operation. Lancet. 1961;1(7187):1129-32.
- 2. Learmonth ID, Young C, Rorabeck C. The operation of the century: total hip replacement. The Lancet. 2007;370(9597):1508-19.
- 3. Årsrepport 2023, Svenska Ledprotesregistret. 2023.
- 4. National Joint Register, Annual report 2023. 2023.
- 5. AOANJRR annual report 2023. 2023.
- 6. LROI Annual report 2023. . 2023.
- 7. Nemes S, Gordon M, Rogmark C, Rolfson O. Projections of total hip replacement in Sweden from 2013 to 2030. Acta Orthop. 2014;85(3):238-43.
- Kurtz S, Ong K, Lau E, Mowat F, Halpern M. Projections of Primary and Revision Hip and Knee Arthroplasty in the United States from 2005 to 2030. JBJS. 2007;89(4):780-5.
- Inacio MCS, Graves SE, Pratt NL, Roughead EE, Nemes S. Increase in Total Joint Arthroplasty Projected from 2014 to 2046 in Australia: A Conservative Local Model With International Implications. Clinical Orthopaedics & Related Research. 2017;475(8):2130-7.
- Mohaddes M, Nauclér E, Kärrholm J, Malchau H, Odin D, Rolfson O. Implant survival and patient-reported outcome following total hip arthroplasty in patients 30 years or younger: a matched cohort study of 1,008 patients in the Swedish Hip Arthroplasty Register. Acta Orthop. 2019;90(3):249-52.
- 11. Metcalfe D, Peterson N, Wilkinson JM, Perry DC. Temporal trends and survivorship of total hip arthroplasty in very young patients: a study using the National Joint Registry data set. Bone Joint J. 2018;100-B(10):1320-9.
- Streit MR, Lehner B, Peitgen DS, Innmann MM, Omlor GW, Walker T, et al. What Is the Long-term (27- to 32-year) Survivorship of an Uncemented Tapered Titanium Femoral Component and Survival in Patients Younger Than 50 Years? Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2020;478(6):1283-91.
- 13. Streit MR, Schroder K, Korber M, Merle C, Gotterbarm T, Ewerbeck V, Aldinger PR. High survival in young patients using a second generation uncemented total hip replacement. Int Orthop. 2012;36(6):1129-36.

- Halvorsen V, Fenstad AM, Engesaeter LB, Nordsletten L, Overgaard S, Pedersen AB, et al. Outcome of 881 total hip arthroplasties in 747 patients 21 years or younger: data from the Nordic Arthroplasty Register Association (NARA) 1995-2016. Acta Orthop. 2019;90(4):331-7.
- 15. Khanuja HS, Vakil JJ, Goddard MS, Mont MA. Cementless femoral fixation in total hip arthroplasty. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2011;93(5):500-9.
- 16. Kheir MM, Drayer NJ, Chen AF. An Update on Cementless Femoral Fixation in Total Hip Arthroplasty. JBJS. 2020;102(18):1646-61.
- Albrektsson T, Brånemark PI, Hansson HA, Lindström J. Osseointegrated Titanium Implants:<i>Requirements for Ensuring a Long-Lasting, Direct Boneto-Implant Anchorage in Man</i>. Acta Orthopaedica Scandinavica. 1981;52(2):155-70.
- 18. Pilliar R, Lee J, Maniatopoulos C. Observations on the effect of movement on bone ingrowth into porous-surfaced implants. Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research (1976-2007). 1986;208:108-13.
- 19. Engh C, Bobyn J, Glassman A. Porous-coated hip replacement. The factors governing bone ingrowth, stress shielding, and clinical results. The Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery British volume. 1987;69-B(1):45-55.
- Jasty M, Bragdon C, Burke D, O'connor D, Lowenstein J, Harris WH. In Vivo Skeletal Responses to Porous-Surfaced Implants Subjected to Small Induced Motions*. JBJS. 1997;79(5):707-14.
- 21. Zweymüller KA, Lintner FK, Semlitsch MF. Biologic Fixation of a Press-Fit Titanium Hip Joint Endoprosthesis. Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research (1976-2007). 1988;235:195-206.
- 22. Woisetschläger M, Booij R, Tesselaar E, Oei EHG, Schilcher J. Improved visualization of the bone-implant interface and osseointegration in ex vivo acetabular cup implants using photon-counting detector CT. European Radiology Experimental. 2023;7(1).
- Urban RM, Jacobs JJ, Sumner DR, Peters CL, Voss FR, Galante JO. The Bone-Implant Interface of Femoral Stems with Non-Circumferential Porous Coating. A Study of Specimens Retrieved at Autopsy*. JBJS. 1996;78(7):1068-81.
- 24. Emerson RH, Sanders SB, Head WC, Higgins L. Effect of Circumferential Plasma-Spray Porous Coating on the Rate of Femoral Osteolysis After Total Hip Arthroplasty*. JBJS. 1999;81(9):1291-8.
- Huiskes R. Bone remodeling around implants can be explained as an effect of mechanical adaptation. Total hip revision surgery: Raven Press; 1995. p. 159-71.

- Brodner W, Bitzan P, Lomoschitz F, Krepler P, Jankovsky R, Lehr S, et al. Changes in bone mineral density in the proximal femur after cementless total hip arthroplasty. The Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery British volume. 2004;86-B(1):20-6.
- Aldinger PR, Sabo D, Pritsch M, Thomsen M, Mau H, Ewerbeck V, Breusch SJ. Pattern of periprosthetic bone remodeling around stable uncemented tapered hip stems: a prospective 84-month follow-up study and a median 156-month cross-sectional study with DXA. Calcif Tissue Int. 2003;73(2):115-21.
- 28. Knutsen AR, Lau N, Longjohn DB, Ebramzadeh E, Sangiorgio SN. Periprosthetic femoral bone loss in total hip arthroplasty: systematic analysis of the effect of stem design. Hip Int. 2017;27(1):26-34.
- 29. Thien TM, Thanner J, Kärrholm J. Fixation and bone remodeling around a lowmodulus stem seven-year follow-up of a randomized study with use of radiostereometry and dual-energy x-ray absorptiometer. J Arthroplasty. 2012;27(1):134-42 e1.
- Sköldenberg OG, Bodén HSG, Salemyr MOF, Ahl TE, Adolphson PY. Periprosthetic proximal bone loss after uncemented hip arthroplasty is related to stem size: DXA measurements in 138 patients followed for 2–7 years. Acta Orthopaedica. 2006;77(3):386-92.
- 31. Huiskes R, Weinans H, Van Rietbergen B. The relationship between stress shielding and bone resorption around total hip stems and the effects of flexible materials. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1992(274):124-34.
- Schilcher J, Ivarsson I, Perlbach R, Palm L. No Difference in Periprosthetic Bone Loss and Fixation Between a Standard-Length Stem and a Shorter Version in Cementless Total Hip Arthroplasty. A Randomized Controlled Trial. J Arthroplasty. 2017;32(4):1220-6.
- Yan SG, Weber P, Steinbruck A, Hua X, Jansson V, Schmidutz F. Periprosthetic bone remodelling of short-stem total hip arthroplasty: a systematic review. Int Orthop. 2018;42(9):2077-86.
- Lazarinis S, Mattsson P, Milbrink J, Mallmin H, Hailer NP. A prospective cohort study on the short collum femoris-preserving (CFP) stem using RSA and DXA. Primary stability but no prevention of proximal bone loss in 27 patients followed for 2 years. Acta Orthop. 2013;84(1):32-9.
- 35. Merle C, Streit MR, Volz C, Pritsch M, Gotterbarm T, Aldinger PR. Bone remodeling around stable uncemented titanium stems during the second decade after total hip arthroplasty: a DXA study at 12 and 17 years. Osteoporos Int. 2011;22(11):2879-86.

- Peitgen DS, Innmann MM, Merle C, Gotterbarm T, Moradi B, Streit MR. Periprosthetic Bone Mineral Density Around Uncemented Titanium Stems in the Second and Third Decade After Total Hip Arthroplasty: A DXA Study After 12, 17 and 21 Years. Calcif Tissue Int. 2018;103(4):372-9.
- Tapaninen T, Kroger H, Venesmaa P. Periprosthetic BMD after cemented and uncemented total hip arthroplasty: a 10-year follow-up study. J Orthop Sci. 2015;20(4):657-62.
- Troelsen A, Malchau E, Sillesen N, Malchau H. A Review of Current Fixation Use and Registry Outcomes in Total Hip Arthroplasty: The Uncemented Paradox. Clinical Orthopaedics & Related Research. 2013;471(7):2052-9.
- 39. The Danish Hip Arthroplasty Register (DHR), 2021 (B) National Annual Report. 2021.
- 40. Dale H, Børsheim S, Kristensen TB, Fenstad AM, Gjertsen J-E, Hallan G, et al. Fixation, sex, and age: highest risk of revision for uncemented stems in elderly women — data from 66,995 primary total hip arthroplasties in the Norwegian Arthroplasty Register. Acta Orthopaedica. 2020;91(1):33-41.
- 41. Aro HT, Alm JJ, Moritz N, Mäkinen TJ, Lankinen P. Low BMD affects initial stability and delays stem osseointegration in cementless total hip arthroplasty in women. Acta Orthopaedica. 2012;83(2):107-14.
- 42. Ahmad R, Sharma V, Sandhu H, Bishay M. Leg Length Discrepancy in Total Hip Arthroplasty with the use of Cemented and Uncemented Femoral Stems. A Prospective Radiological Study. HIP International. 2009;19(3):264-7.
- 43. Malchau H. On the importance of stepwise introduction of new hip implant technology : assessment of total hip replacement using clinical evaluation, radiostereometry, digitised radiography and a national hip registry: University of Gothenburg; 1995.
- 44. Barkun JS, Aronson JK, Feldman LS, Maddern GJ, Strasberg SM. Evaluation and stages of surgical innovations. The Lancet. 2009;374(9695):1089-96.
- 45. Mcculloch P, Altman DG, Campbell WB, Flum DR, Glasziou P, Marshall JC, Nicholl J. No surgical innovation without evaluation: the IDEAL recommendations. The Lancet. 2009;374(9695):1105-12.
- Nelissen RG, Pijls BG, Karrholm J, Malchau H, Nieuwenhuijse MJ, Valstar ER. RSA and registries: the quest for phased introduction of new implants. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2011;93 Suppl 3:62-5.
- 47. Reito A, Lehtovirta L, Lainiala O, Mäkelä K, Eskelinen A. Lack of evidence—the anti-stepwise introduction of metal-on-metal hip replacements. Acta Orthopaedica. 2017;88(5):478-83.

- 48. De Steiger RN, Hang JR, Miller LN, Graves SE, Davidson DC. Five-Year Results of the ASR XL Acetabular System and the ASR Hip Resurfacing System: An Analysis from the Australian Orthopaedic Association National Joint Replacement Registry. JBJS. 2011;93(24):2287-93.
- 49. Howard J. Balancing innovation and medical device regulation: the case of modern metal-on-metal hip replacements. Medical Devices: Evidence and Research. 2016;Volume 9:267-75.
- Anand R, Graves SE, De Steiger RN, Davidson DC, Ryan P, Miller LN, Cashman K. What Is the Benefit of Introducing New Hip and Knee Prostheses? JBJS. 2011;93(Supplement_3):51-4.
- 51. Regulation (eu) 2017/745 of the european parliament and of the council of 5 April 2017 on medical devices, amending Directive 2001/83/EC, Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 and Regulation (EC) No 1223/2009 and repealing Council Directives 90/385/EEC and 93/42/EEC: European Union; 2020 [Available from: <u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-</u> content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A02017R0745-20200424.
- Anil U, Singh V, Schwarzkopf R. Diagnosis and Detection of Subtle Aseptic Loosening in Total Hip Arthroplasty. The Journal of Arthroplasty. 2022;37(8):1494-500.
- Streit MR, Innmann MM, Merle C, Bruckner T, Aldinger PR, Gotterbarm T. Long-term (20- to 25-year) Results of an Uncemented Tapered Titanium Femoral Component and Factors Affecting Survivorship. Clinical Orthopaedics & Related Research. 2013;471(10):3262-9.
- Fottner A, Woiczinski M, Kistler M, Schröder C, Schmidutz TF, Jansson V, Schmidutz F. Influence of undersized cementless hip stems on primary stability and strain distribution. Archives of Orthopaedic and Trauma Surgery. 2017;137(10):1435-41.
- 55. Abu-Amer Y, Darwech I, Clohisy JC. Aseptic loosening of total joint replacements: mechanisms underlying osteolysis and potential therapies. Arthritis Research & Therapy. 2007;9(Suppl 1):S6.
- 56. Mjöberg B. Is early migration enough to explain late clinical loosening of hip prostheses? EFORT Open Reviews. 2020;5(2):113-7.
- 57. Postler AE, Beyer F, Wegner T, Lützner J, Hartmann A, Ojodu I, Günther K-P. Patient-Reported outcomes after Revision Surgery Compared to Primary Total Hip Arthroplasty. HIP International. 2017;27(2):180-6.
- 58. Salimy MS, Paschalidis A, Dunahoe JA, Chen AF, Alpaugh K, Bedair HS, Melnic CM. Patient-Reported Outcomes Following Revision Total Hip Arthroplasty

Demonstrate Less Improvement and Significantly Higher Rates of Worsening Compared to Primaries. The Journal of Arthroplasty. 2023;38(11):2410-4.

- 59. Badarudeen S, Shu AC, Ong KL, Baykal D, Lau E, Malkani AL. Complications After Revision Total Hip Arthroplasty in the Medicare Population. The Journal of Arthroplasty. 2017;32(6):1954-8.
- 60. Laughlin MS, Vidal EA, Drtil AA, Goytia RN, Mathews V, Patel AR. Mortality After Revision Total Hip Arthroplasty. The Journal of Arthroplasty. 2021;36(7):2353-8.
- 61. Peters RM, Ten Have BLEF, Rykov K, Van Steenbergen L, Putter H, Rutgers M, et al. The learning curve of the direct anterior approach is 100 cases: an analysis based on 15,875 total hip arthroplasties in the Dutch Arthroplasty Register. Acta Orthopaedica. 2022;93:775-82.
- 62. Hoskins W, Bingham R, Lorimer M, Hatton A, De Steiger RN. Early Rate of Revision of Total Hip Arthroplasty Related to Surgical Approach: An Analysis of 122,345 Primary Total Hip Arthroplasties. JBJS. 2020;102(21):1874-82.
- 63. Skoogh O, Tsikandylakis G, Mohaddes M, Nemes S, Odin D, Grant P, Rolfson O. Contemporary posterior surgical approach in total hip replacement: still more reoperations due to dislocation compared with direct lateral approach? An observational study of the Swedish Hip Arthroplasty Register including 156,979 hips. Acta Orthopaedica. 2019;90(5):411-6.
- 64. Rosenlund S, Broeng L, Holsgaard-Larsen A, Jensen C, Overgaard S. Patientreported outcome after total hip arthroplasty: comparison between lateral and posterior approach. Acta Orthopaedica. 2017;88(3):239-47.
- 65. Lindgren JV, Wretenberg P, Kärrholm J, Garellick G, Rolfson O. Patientreported outcome is influenced by surgical approach in total hip replacement. The Bone & Joint Journal. 2014;96-B(5):590-6.
- Rosenlund S, Broeng L, Overgaard S, Jensen C, Holsgaard-Larsen A. The efficacy of modified direct lateral versus posterior approach on gait function and hip muscle strength after primary total hip arthroplasty at 12months follow-up. An explorative randomised controlled trial. Clinical Biomechanics. 2016;39:91-9.
- 67. Hoskins W, Rainbird S, Peng Y, Graves SE, Bingham R. The Effect of Surgical Approach and Femoral Prosthesis Type on Revision Rates Following Total Hip Arthroplasty: An Analysis of the Most Commonly Utilized Cementless Stems. JBJS. 2022;104(1):24-32.

- 68. Barrett WP, Turner SE, Leopold JP. Prospective Randomized Study of Direct Anterior vs Postero-Lateral Approach for Total Hip Arthroplasty. The Journal of Arthroplasty. 2013;28(9):1634-8.
- 69. Connolly KP, Kamath AF. Direct anterior total hip arthroplasty: Comparative outcomes and contemporary results. World Journal of Orthopedics. 2016;7(2):94.
- 70. Parvizi J, Restrepo C, Maltenfort MG. Total Hip Arthroplasty Performed Through Direct Anterior Approach Provides Superior Early Outcome: Results of a Randomized, Prospective Study. Orthopedic Clinics of North America. 2016;47(3):497-504.
- 71. Malik AT, Jain N, Scharschmidt TJ, Li M, Glassman AH, Khan SN. Does Surgeon Volume Affect Outcomes Following Primary Total Hip Arthroplasty? A Systematic Review. The Journal of Arthroplasty. 2018;33(10):3329-42.
- 72. Katz JN, Phillips CB, Baron JA, Fossel AH, Mahomed NN, Barrett J, et al. Association of hospital and surgeon volume of total hip replacement with functional status and satisfaction three years following surgery. Arthritis & Rheumatism. 2003;48(2):560-8.
- Thompson R, Kane RL, Gromala T, Mclaughlin B, Flood S, Morris N, Borbas C. Complications and short-term outcomes associated with total hip arthroplasty in teaching and community hospitals. The Journal of Arthroplasty. 2002;17(1):32-40.
- 74. Jolbäck P, Rolfson O, Cnudde P, Odin D, Malchau H, Lindahl H, Mohaddes M. High annual surgeon volume reduces the risk of adverse events following primary total hip arthroplasty: a registry-based study of 12,100 cases in Western Sweden. Acta Orthopaedica. 2019;90(2):153-8.
- 75. De Vries LM, Sturkenboom MC, Verhaar JA, Kingma JH, Stricker BH. Complications after hip arthroplasty and the association with hospital procedure volume. Acta Orthopaedica. 2011;82(5):545-52.
- 76. Mäkelä KT, Häkkinen U, Peltola M, Linna M, Kröger H, Remes V. The effect of hospital volume on length of stay, re-admissions, and complications of total hip arthroplasty. Acta Orthopaedica. 2011;82(1):20-6.
- 77. Klag EA, Heil HO, Wesemann LD, Charters MA, North WT. Higher Annual Total Hip Arthroplasty Volume Decreases the Risk of Intraoperative Periprosthetic Femur Fractures. The Journal of Arthroplasty. 2023.
- Reidy MJ, Faulkner A, Shitole B, Clift B. Do trainee surgeons have an adverse effect on the outcome after total hip arthroplasty? The Bone & Joint Journal. 2016;98-B(3):301-6.

- Jolbäck P, Rolfson O, Mohaddes M, Nemes S, Kärrholm J, Garellick G, Lindahl
 H. Does surgeon experience affect patient-reported outcomes 1 year after primary total hip arthroplasty? Acta Orthopaedica. 2018;89(3):265-71.
- 80. Palan J, Gulati A, Andrew JG, Murray DW, Beard DJ. The trainer, the trainee and the surgeons' assistant. The Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery British volume. 2009;91-B(7):928-34.
- Moran M, Yap SL, Walmsley P, Brenkel IJ. Clinical and radiologic outcome of total hip arthroplasty performed by trainee compared with consultant orthopedic surgeons. The Journal of Arthroplasty. 2004;19(7):853-7.
- Rolfson O, Kärrholm J, Dahlberg LE, Garellick G. Patient-reported outcomes in the Swedish Hip Arthroplasty Register. The Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery British volume. 2011;93-B(7):867-75.
- Orr MN, Klika AK, Emara AK, Barsoum WK, Molloy RM, Krebs VE, et al. Dissatisfaction After Total Hip Arthroplasty Associated With Preoperative Patient-Reported Outcome Phenotypes. The Journal of Arthroplasty. 2022;37(7, Supplement):S498-S509.
- 84. Greene ME, Rolfson O, Gordon M, Annerbrink K, Malchau H, Garellick G. Is the use of antidepressants associated with patient-reported outcomes following total hip replacement surgery? Acta Orthopaedica. 2016;87(5):444-51.
- Grits D, Emara AK, Orr MN, Rullán PJ, Murray TG, Higuera CA, et al. Preoperative Veteran RAND-12 Mental Composite Score of >60 Associated With Increased Likelihood of Patient Satisfaction After Total Hip Arthroplasty. The Journal of Arthroplasty. 2023;38(7, Supplement 2):S258-S64.
- Riediger W, Doering S, Krismer M. Depression and somatisation influence the outcome of total hip replacement. International Orthopaedics. 2010;34(1):13-8.
- Duivenvoorden T, Vissers MM, Verhaar JaN, Busschbach JJV, Gosens T, Bloem RM, et al. Anxiety and depressive symptoms before and after total hip and knee arthroplasty: a prospective multicentre study. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage. 2013;21(12):1834-40.
- Jaiswal P, Railton P, Khong H, Smith C, Powell J. Impact of preoperative mental health status on functional outcome 1 year after total hip arthroplasty. Canadian Journal of Surgery. 2019;62(5):300-4.
- 89. Osani MC, Lohmander LS, Bannuru RR. Is There Any Role for Opioids in the Management of Knee and Hip Osteoarthritis? A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Arthritis Care & amp; Research. 2021;73(10):1413-24.

- 90. Simonsson J, Bülow E, Svensson Malchau K, Nyberg F, Berg U, Rolfson O. Worse patient-reported outcomes and higher risk of reoperation and adverse events after total hip replacement in patients with opioid use in the year before surgery: a Swedish register-based study on 80,483 patients. Acta Orthopaedica. 2022:190-7.
- 91. Ben-Ari A, Chansky H, Rozet I. Preoperative Opioid Use Is Associated with Early Revision After Total Knee Arthroplasty: A Study of Male Patients Treated in the Veterans Affairs System. JBJS. 2017;99(1):1-9.
- 92. Goplen CM, Verbeek W, Kang SH, Jones CA, Voaklander DC, Churchill TA, Beaupre LA. Preoperative opioid use is associated with worse patient outcomes after Total joint arthroplasty: a systematic review and metaanalysis. BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders. 2019;20(1).
- 93. Bell KL, Shohat N, Goswami K, Tan TL, Kalbian I, Parvizi J. Preoperative Opioids Increase the Risk of Periprosthetic Joint Infection After Total Joint Arthroplasty. The Journal of Arthroplasty. 2018;33(10):3246-51.e1.
- 94. Morris BJ, Sciascia AD, Jacobs CA, Edwards TB. Preoperative opioid use associated with worse outcomes after anatomic shoulder arthroplasty. Journal of Shoulder and Elbow Surgery. 2016;25(4):619-23.
- Eloranta S, Lambert PC, Cavalli-Bjorkman N, Andersson TML, Glimelius B, Dickman PW. Does socioeconomic status influence the prospect of cure from colon cancer – A population-based study in Sweden 1965–2000. European Journal of Cancer. 2010;46(16):2965-72.
- 96. Bergström G, Redfors B, Angerås O, Dworeck C, Shao Y, Haraldsson I, et al. Low socioeconomic status of a patient's residential area is associated with worse prognosis after acute myocardial infarction in Sweden. International Journal of Cardiology. 2015;182:141-7.
- Butler AR, Rosenzweig S, Myers L, Barrack RL. The Frank Stinchfield Award: The Impact of Socioeconomic Factors on Outcome After THA: A Prospective, Randomized Study. Clinical Orthopaedics & Related Research. 2011;469(2):339-47.
- Fortin PR, Clarke AE, Joseph L, Liang MH, Tanzer M, Ferland D, et al. Outcomes of total hip and knee replacement: Preoperative functional status predicts outcomes at six months after surgery. Arthritis & Rheumatism. 1999;42(8):1722-8.
- 99. Krupic F, Eisler T, Garellick G, Kärrholm J. Influence of ethnicity and socioeconomic factors on outcome after total hip replacement. Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences. 2013;27(1):139-46.

- 100. Lungu E, Maftoon S, Vendittoli PA, Desmeules F. A systematic review of preoperative determinants of patient-reported pain and physical function up to 2 years following primary unilateral total hip arthroplasty. Orthopaedics & Traumatology: Surgery & Research. 2016;102(3):397-403.
- 101. Busato A, Röder C, Herren S, Eggli S. Influence of High BMI on Functional Outcome After Total Hip Arthroplasty. Obesity Surgery. 2008;18(5):595-600.
- 102. Haynes J, Nam D, Barrack RL. Obesity in total hip arthroplasty. The Bone & Joint Journal. 2017;99-B(1_Supple_A):31-6.
- 103. Nilsson E, Orwelius L, Kristenson M. Patient-reported outcomes in the Swedish National Quality Registers. Journal of Internal Medicine. 2016;279(2):141-53.
- 104. Mokkink LB, Terwee CB, Patrick DL, Alonso J, Stratford PW, Knol DL, et al. The COSMIN study reached international consensus on taxonomy, terminology, and definitions of measurement properties for health-related patientreported outcomes. Journal of Clinical Epidemiology. 2010;63(7):737-45.
- Jaeschke R, Singer J, Guyatt GH. Measurement of health status: Ascertaining the minimal clinically important difference. Controlled Clinical Trials. 1989;10(4):407-15.
- 106. Beard DJ, Harris K, Dawson J, Doll H, Murray DW, Carr AJ, Price AJ. Meaningful changes for the Oxford hip and knee scores after joint replacement surgery. J Clin Epidemiol. 2015;68(1):73-9.
- Sedaghat AR. Understanding the Minimal Clinically Important Difference (MCID) of Patient-Reported Outcome Measures. Otolaryngology–Head and Neck Surgery. 2019;161(4):551-60.
- Bloom DA, Kaplan DJ, Mojica E, Strauss EJ, Gonzalez-Lomas G, Campbell KA, et al. The Minimal Clinically Important Difference: A Review of Clinical Significance. The American Journal of Sports Medicine. 2023;51(2):520-4.
- 109. Copay AG, Eyberg B, Chung AS, Zurcher KS, Chutkan N, Spangehl MJ. Minimum Clinically Important Difference: Current Trends in the Orthopaedic Literature, Part II: Lower Extremity: A Systematic Review. JBJS Reviews. 2018;6(9):e2.
- 110. Larsson A, Rolfson O, Kärrholm J. Evaluation of Forgotten Joint Score in total hip arthroplasty with Oxford Hip Score as reference standard. Acta Orthop. 2019;90(3):253-7.
- Wamper KE, Sierevelt IN, Poolman RW, Bhandari M, Haverkamp D. The Harris hip score: Do ceiling effects limit its usefulness in orthopedics? Acta Orthop. 2010;81(6):703-7.

- 112. Selvik G. Roentgen stereophotogrammetry: a method for the study of the kinematics of the skeletal system. Acta Orthopaedica Scandinavica. 1989;60(sup232):1-51.
- 113. Önsten I, Berzins A, Shott S, Sumner DR. Accuracy and precision of radiostereometric analysis in the measurement of THR femoral component translations: human and canine in vitro models. Journal of Orthopaedic Research. 2001;19(6):1162-7.
- 114. Kärrholm J, Borssen B, Löwenhielm G, Snorrason F. Does early micromotion of femoral stem prostheses matter? 4-7-year stereoradiographic follow-up of 84 cemented prostheses. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 1994;76(6):912-7.
- 115. Ryd L, Albrektsson B, Carlsson L, Dansgard F, Herberts P, Lindstrand A, et al. Roentgen stereophotogrammetric analysis as a predictor of mechanical loosening of knee prostheses. The Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery British volume. 1995;77-B(3):377-83.
- 116. Nieuwenhuijse MJ, Valstar ER, Kaptein BL, Nelissen RGHH. The Exeter femoral stem continues to migrate during its first decade after implantation. Acta Orthopaedica. 2012;83(2):129-34.
- 117. De Vries LM, Van Der Weegen W, Pilot P, Stolarczyk PA, Sijbesma T, Hoffman EL. The predictive value of radiostereometric analysis for stem survival in total hip arthroplasty. A systematic review. Hip Int. 2014;24(3):215-22.
- 118. Schewelov T, Ahlborg H, Sanzen L, Besjakov J, Carlsson A. Fixation of the fully hydroxyapatite-coated Corail stem implanted due to femoral neck fracture: 38 patients followed for 2 years with RSA and DEXA. Acta Orthop. 2012;83(2):153-8.
- 119. Ström H, Nilsson O, Milbrink J, Mallmin H, Larsson S. Early migration pattern of the uncemented CLS stem in total hip arthroplasties. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2007;454:127-32.
- 120. Dyreborg K, Andersen MR, Winther N, Solgaard S, Flivik G, Petersen MM. Migration of the uncemented Echo Bi-Metric and Bi-Metric THA stems: a randomized controlled RSA study involving 62 patients with 24-month follow-up. Acta Orthopaedica. 2020;91(6):693-8.
- 121. Critchley O, Callary S, Mercer G, Campbell D, Wilson C. Long-term migration characteristics of the Corail hydroxyapatite-coated femoral stem: a 14-year radiostereometric analysis follow-up study. Archives of Orthopaedic and Trauma Surgery. 2020;140(1):121-7.

- 122. Weber E, Sundberg M, Flivik G. Design modifications of the uncemented Furlong hip stem result in minor early subsidence but do not affect further stability. Acta Orthopaedica. 2014;85(6):556-61.
- 123. Sandberg O, Tholen S, Carlsson S, Wretenberg P. The anatomical SP-CL stem demonstrates a non-progressing migration pattern in the first year: a low dose CT-based migration study in 20 patients. Acta Orthop. 2020;91(6):654-9.
- 124. Floerkemeier T, Budde S, Lewinski GV, Windhagen H, Hurschler C, Schwarze M. Greater early migration of a short-stem total hip arthroplasty is not associated with an increased risk of osseointegration failure: 5th-year results from a prospective RSA study with 39 patients, a follow-up study. Acta Orthop. 2020;91(3):266-71.
- 125. Kaptein BL, Valstar ER, Stoel BC, Rozing PM, Reiber JHC. A new model-based RSA method validated using CAD models and models from reversed engineering. Journal of Biomechanics. 2003;36(6):873-82.
- 126. Mjöberg B, Selvik G, Hansson LI, Rosenqvist R, Önnerfalt R. Mechanical loosening of total hip prostheses. A radiographic and roentgen stereophotogrammetric study. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 1986;68(5):770-4.
- 127. Önsten I, Carlsson AS, Sanzen L, Besjakov J. Migration and wear of a hydroxyapatite-coated hip prosthesis. A controlled roentgen stereophotogrammetric study. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 1996;78(1):85-91.
- 128. Brodén C, Sandberg O, Olivecrona H, Emery R, Sköldenberg O. Precision of CTbased micromotion analysis is comparable to radiostereometry for early migration measurements in cemented acetabular cups. Acta Orthopaedica. 2021;92(4):419-23.
- 129. Angelomenos V, Mohaddes M, Itayem R, Shareghi B. Precision of low-dose CTbased micromotion analysis technique for the assessment of early acetabular cup migration compared with gold standard RSA: a prospective study of 30 patients up to 1 year. Acta Orthopaedica. 2022;93:459-65.
- 130. Scheerlinck T, Polfliet M, Deklerck R, Van Gompel G, Buls N, Vandemeulebroucke J. Development and validation of an automated and marker-free CT-based spatial analysis method (CTSA) for assessment of femoral hip implant migration In vitro accuracy and precision comparable to that of radiostereometric analysis (RSA). Acta Orthopaedica. 2016;87(2):139-45.
- Kanis JA, Burlet N, Cooper C, Delmas PD, Reginster JY, Borgstrom F, Rizzoli R. European guidance for the diagnosis and management of osteoporosis in postmenopausal women. Osteoporosis International. 2008;19(4):399-428.

- 132. Kröger H, Miettinen H, Arnala I, Koski E, Rushton N, Suomalainen O. Evaluation of periprosthetic bone using dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry: Precision of the method and effect of operation on bone mineral density. Journal of Bone and Mineral Research. 1996;11(10):1526-30.
- 133. Smart RC, Barbagallo S, Slater GL, Kuo RS, Butler SP, Drummond RP, Sekel R. Measurement of periprosthetic bone density in hip arthroplasty using dualenergy x-ray absorptiometry: Reproducibility of Measurements. The Journal of Arthroplasty. 1996;11(4):445-52.
- 134. Trevisan C, Bigoni M, Cherubini R, Steiger P, Randelli G, Ortolani S. Dual X-ray absorptiometry for the evaluation of bone density from the proximal femur after total hip arthroplasty: Analysis protocols and reproducibility. Calcified Tissue International. 1993;53(3):158-61.
- 135. Phillips NJ, Stockley I, Wilkinson JM. Direct plain radiographic methods versus EBRA-Digital for measuring implant migration after total hip arthroplasty. The Journal of Arthroplasty. 2002;17(7):917-25.
- 136. Malchau H, Kärrholm J, Wang YX, Herberts P. Accuracy of migration analysis in hip arthroplasty Digitized and conventional radiography, compared to radiostereometry in 51 patients. Acta Orthopaedica Scandinavica. 1995;66(5):418-24.
- Berliner ZP, Jawad MU, Matzko C, Cooper HJ, Rodriguez JA, Hepinstall MS. Proximal radiolucent lines around fully hydroxyapatite-coated tapered femoral stems: should we be concerned? HIP International. 2023;0(0):11207000231178269.
- 138. Karayiannis PN, Cassidy RS, Isaac G, Hughes I, Hill JC, Machenaud A, Beverland DE. Risk Factors for Significant Radiolucent Line Development in a Fully Coated Hydroxyapatite Stem. The Journal of Arthroplasty. 2021;36(11):3709-15.
- 139. Kanto M, Fukunishi S, Fukui T, Nishio S, Fujihara Y, Okahisa S, et al. Radiological Evaluation of the Relationship Between Cortical Hypertrophy and Stress Shielding After Total Hip Arthroplasty Using a Cementless Stem. Arthroplasty Today. 2020;6(4):894-900.
- 140. Thalmann C, Horn Lang T, Bereiter H, Clauss M, Acklin YP, Stoffel K. An excellent 5-year survival rate despite a high incidence of distal femoral cortical hypertrophy in a short hip stem. Hip Int. 2020;30(2):152-9.
- 141. Crawford DA, Adams JB, Morris MJ, Berend KR, Lombardi AV. Distal femoral cortical hypertrophy not associated with thigh pain using a short stem femoral implant. HIP International. 2021;31(6):722-8.

- 142. Ewen AM, Stewart S, St Clair Gibson A, Kashyap SN, Caplan N. Post-operative gait analysis in total hip replacement patients—A review of current literature and meta-analysis. Gait & Posture. 2012;36(1):1-6.
- 143. Beaulieu ML, Lamontagne M, Beaulé PE. Lower limb biomechanics during gait do not return to normal following total hip arthroplasty. Gait & Posture. 2010;32(2):269-73.
- 144. Wiik AV, Aqil A, Al-Obaidi B, Brevadt M, Cobb JP. The impact of reducing the femoral stem length in total hip arthroplasty during gait. Archives of Orthopaedic and Trauma Surgery. 2021;141(11):1993-2000.
- 145. Gerhardt DMJM, Mors TGT, Hannink G, Van Susante JLC. Resurfacing hip arthroplasty better preserves a normal gait pattern at increasing walking speeds compared to total hip arthroplasty. Acta Orthopaedica. 2019;90(3):231-6.
- 146. Petersen MK, Andersen NT, Mogensen P, Voight M, Søballe K. Gait analysis after total hip replacement with hip resurfacing implant or Mallory-head Exeter prosthesis: a randomised controlled trial. International Orthopaedics. 2011;35(5):667-74.
- Williams DH, Greidanus NV, Masri BA, Duncan CP, Garbuz DS. Predictors of Participation in Sports After Hip and Knee Arthroplasty. Clinical Orthopaedics & Related Research. 2012;470(2):555-61.
- 148. Jassim SS, Douglas SL, Haddad FS. Athletic activity after lower limb arthroplasty: a systematic review of current evidence. Bone Joint J. 2014;96-B(7):923-7.
- 149. Varnum C, Pedersen AB, Gundtoft PH, Overgaard S. The what, when and how of orthopaedic registers: an introduction into register-based research. EFORT Open Reviews. 2019;4(6):337-43.
- 150. Varnum C, Pedersen AB, Rolfson O, Rogmark C, Furnes O, Hallan G, et al. Impact of hip arthroplasty registers on orthopaedic practice and perspectives for the future. EFORT Open Reviews. 2019;4(6):368-76.
- 151. Murray DW, Fitzpatrick R, Rogers K, Pandit H, Beard DJ, Carr AJ, Dawson J. The use of the Oxford hip and knee scores. The Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery British volume. 2007;89-B(8):1010-4.
- 152. Dawson J, Fitzpatrick R, Murray D, Carr A. Comparison of measures to assess outcomes in total hip replacement surgery. Quality and Safety in Health Care. 1996;5(2):81-8.

- 153. Mahomed NN, Arndt DC, Mcgrory BJ, Harris WH. The Harris hip score: Comparison of patient self-report with surgeon assessment. The Journal of Arthroplasty. 2001;16(5):575-80.
- 154. Söderman P, Malchau H. Is the Harris Hip Score System Useful to Study the Outcome of Total Hip Replacement? Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research[®]. 2001;384.
- 155. Harris WH. Traumatic arthritis of the hip after dislocation and acetabular fractures: treatment by mold arthroplasty. An end-result study using a new method of result evaluation. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1969;51(4):737-55.
- 156. Behrend H, Giesinger K, Giesinger JM, Kuster MS. The "Forgotten Joint" as the Ultimate Goal in Joint Arthroplasty: Validation of a New Patient-Reported Outcome Measure. The Journal of Arthroplasty. 2012;27(3):430-6.e1.
- Hamilton DF, Giesinger JM, Macdonald DJ, Simpson AH, Howie CR, Giesinger K. Responsiveness and ceiling effects of the Forgotten Joint Score-12 following total hip arthroplasty. Bone Joint Res. 2016;5(3):87-91.
- 158. Heijbel S, Naili JE, Hedin A, W-Dahl A, Nilsson KG, Hedström M. The Forgotten Joint Score-12 in Swedish patients undergoing knee arthroplasty: a validation study with the Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS) as comparator. Acta Orthopaedica. 2020;91(1):88-93.
- 159. Herdman M, Gudex C, Lloyd A, Janssen MF, Kind P, Parkin D, et al. Development and preliminary testing of the new five-level version of EQ-5D (EQ-5D-5L). Quality of Life Research. 2011;20(10):1727-36.
- 160. Eneqvist T, Nemes S, Kärrholm J, Burström K, Rolfson O. How do EQ-5D-3L and EQ-5D-5L compare in a Swedish total hip replacement population? Acta Orthopaedica. 2020;91(3):272-8.
- 161. Conner-Spady BL, Marshall DA, Bohm E, Dunbar MJ, Loucks L, Khudairy AA, Noseworthy TW. Reliability and validity of the EQ-5D-5L compared to the EQ-5D-3L in patients with osteoarthritis referred for hip and knee replacement. Quality of Life Research. 2015;24(7):1775-84.
- 162. Ware JE, Jr., Sherbourne CD. The MOS 36-item short-form health survey (SF-36). I. Conceptual framework and item selection. Med Care. 1992;30(6):473-83.
- 163. Ware JE, Snow K, Kosinski M, Gandek B. The SF-36 health survey. Manual and interpretation guide. 1996;2.
- 164. Taft C, Karlsson J, Sullivan M. Performance of the Swedish SF-36 version 2.0. Quality of Life Research. 2004;13(1):251-6.

- 165. Sullivan M, Karlsson J, Ware JE. The Swedish SF-36 Health Survey—I. Evaluation of data quality, scaling assumptions, reliability and construct validity across general populations in Sweden. Social Science & Medicine. 1995;41(10):1349-58.
- 166. Brokelman RBG, Haverkamp D, Van Loon C, Hol A, Van Kampen A, Veth R. The validation of the visual analogue scale for patient satisfaction after total hip arthroplasty. European Orthopaedics and Traumatology. 2012;3(2):101-5.
- 167. De Nies F, Fidler MW. Visual analog scale for the assessment of total hip arthroplasty. The Journal of Arthroplasty. 1997;12(4):416-9.
- 168. Amstutz HC, Thomas BJ, Jinnah R, Kim W, Grogan T, Yale C. Treatment of primary osteoarthritis of the hip. A comparison of total joint and surface replacement arthroplasty. JBJS. 1984;66(2):228-41.
- Naal FD, Impellizzeri FM, Leunig M. Which is the Best Activity Rating Scale for Patients Undergoing Total Joint Arthroplasty? Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research. 2009;467(4):958-65.
- 170. Terwee CB, Bouwmeester W, Van Elsland SL, De Vet HCW, Dekker J. Instruments to assess physical activity in patients with osteoarthritis of the hip or knee: a systematic review of measurement properties. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage. 2011;19(6):620-33.
- 171. Kärrholm J, Herberts P, Hultmark P, Malchau H, Nivbrant B, Thanner J. Radiostereometry of hip prostheses: review of methodology and clinical results. Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research[®]. 1997;344:94-110.
- 172. Kärrholm J, Gill RHS, Valstar ER. The History and Future of Radiostereometric Analysis. Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research[®]. 2006;448:10-21.
- 173. Klein LJ, Puretic G, Mohaddes M, Karrholm J. Similar clinical results and early subsidence between the Collum Femoris Preserving and the Corail stem: a randomized radiostereometric study of 77 hips with 2 years' follow-up. Acta Orthop. 2019;90(3):202-8.
- 174. LROI Implant Library. 2022.
- Briem D, Schneider M, Bogner N, Botha N, Gebauer M, Gehrke T, Schwantes B. Mid-term results of 155 patients treated with a collum femoris preserving (CFP) short stem prosthesis. Int Orthop. 2011;35(5):655-60.
- 176. Ghera S, Bisicchia S. The collum femoris preserving stem: early results. Hip Int. 2013;23(1):27-32.

- 177. Hutt J, Harb Z, Gill I, Kashif F, Miller J, Dodd M. Ten year results of the collum femoris preserving total hip replacement: a prospective cohort study of seventy five patients. Int Orthop. 2014;38(5):917-22.
- 178. Nowak M, Nowak TE, Schmidt R, Forst R, Kress AM, Mueller LA. Prospective study of a cementless total hip arthroplasty with a collum femoris preserving stem and a trabeculae oriented pressfit cup: minimun 6-year follow-up. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg. 2011;131(4):549-55.
- 179. Acklin YP, Jenni R, Bereiter H, Thalmann C, Stoffel K. Prospective clinical and radiostereometric analysis of the Fitmore short-stem total hip arthroplasty. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg. 2016;136(2):277-84.
- 180. Thalmann C, Kempter P, Stoffel K, Ziswiler T, Frigg A. Prospective 5-year study with 96 short curved Fitmore hip stems shows a high incidence of cortical hypertrophy with no clinical relevance. J Orthop Surg Res. 2019;14(1):156.
- 181. Freitag T, Hein MA, Wernerus D, Reichel H, Bieger R. Bone remodelling after femoral short stem implantation in total hip arthroplasty: 1-year results from a randomized DEXA study. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg. 2016;136(1):125-30.
- Wylde V, Blom A, Dieppe P, Hewlett S, Learmonth I. Return to sport after joint replacement. The Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery British volume. 2008;90-B(7):920-3.
- Schmidutz F, Grote S, Pietschmann M, Weber P, Mazoochian F, Fottner A, Jansson V. Sports activity after short-stem hip arthroplasty. Am J Sports Med. 2012;40(2):425-32.
- 184. Rosinsky PJ, Chen JW, Lall AC, Shapira J, Maldonado DR, Domb BG. Can We Help Patients Forget Their Joint? Determining a Threshold for Successful Outcome for the Forgotten Joint Score. J Arthroplasty. 2020;35(1):153-9.
- 185. Gudmundsson P, Nakonezny PA, Lin J, Owhonda R, Richard H, Wells J. Functional improvement in hip pathology is related to improvement in anxiety, depression, and pain catastrophizing: an intricate link between physical and mental well-being. BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders. 2021;22(1):133.
- Gordon M, Greene M, Frumento P, Rolfson O, Garellick G, Stark A. Age- and health-related quality of life after total hip replacement. Acta Orthopaedica. 2014;85(3):244-9.
- Janssen B, Szende A. Population Norms for the EQ-5D. Springer Netherlands; 2014. p. 19-30.
- 188. Longo UG, De Salvatore S, Greco A, Marino M, Santamaria G, Piergentili I, et al. Influence of Depression and Sleep Quality on Postoperative Outcomes after

Total Hip Arthroplasty: A Prospective Study. Journal of Clinical Medicine. 2022;11(13):3845.

- 189. De Waard S, Sierevelt IN, Jonker R, Hoornenborg D, Van Der Vis HM, Kerkhoffs G, Haverkamp D. The migration pattern and initial stability of the Optimys short stem in total hip arthroplasty: a prospective 2-year follow-up study of 33 patients with RSA. Hip Int. 2021;31(4):507-15.
- 190. Van Der Voort P, Pijls BG, Nieuwenhuijse MJ, Jasper J, Fiocco M, Plevier JW, et al. Early subsidence of shape-closed hip arthroplasty stems is associated with late revision. A systematic review and meta-analysis of 24 RSA studies and 56 survival studies. Acta Orthop. 2015;86(5):575-85.
- 191. Formica M, Cavagnaro L, Basso M, Zanirato A, Palermo A, Felli L. What is the fate of the neck after a collum femoris preserving prosthesis? a nineteen years single center experience. Int Orthop. 2017;41(7):1329-35.
- 192. Djebara A-E, El Yagoubi A, Mertl P, El Fatayri B, Dehl M, Gabrion A. Comparison of periprosthetic bone mineral density between two types of short-stems in total hip arthroplasty with a mean follow-up of 4 years. Orthopaedics & Traumatology: Surgery & Research. 2022;108(1):103044.
- 193. Salemyr M, Muren O, Ahl T, Boden H, Eisler T, Stark A, Skoldenberg O. Lower periprosthetic bone loss and good fixation of an ultra-short stem compared to a conventional stem in uncemented total hip arthroplasty. Acta Orthop. 2015;86(6):659-66.
- Albanese CV, Santori FS, Pavan L, Learmonth ID, Passariello R. Periprosthetic DXA after total hip arthroplasty with short vs. ultra-short custom-made femoral stems: 37 patients followed for 3 years. Acta Orthop. 2009;80(3):291-7.
- 195. Lerch M, Kurtz A, Stukenborg-Colsman C, Nolte I, Weigel N, Bouguecha A, Behrens BA. Bone remodeling after total hip arthroplasty with a short stemmed metaphyseal loading implant: finite element analysis validated by a prospective DEXA investigation. J Orthop Res. 2012;30(11):1822-9.
- 196. Maier MW, Streit MR, Innmann MM, Krüger M, Nadorf J, Kretzer JP, et al. Cortical hypertrophy with a short, curved uncemented hip stem does not have any clinical impact during early follow-up. BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders. 2015;16(1).
- 197. Tootsi K, Lees L, Geiko B, Martson A. Intraoperative complications in total hip arthroplasty using a new cementless femoral implant (SP-CL((R))). J Orthop Traumatol. 2020;21(1):8.

- 198. Pipino F, Keller A. Tissue-sparing surgery: 25 years' experience with femoral neck preserving hip arthroplasty. Journal of Orthopaedics and Traumatology. 2006;7(1):36-41.
- Kendoff DO, Citak M, Egidy CC, O'loughlin PF, Gehrke T. Eleven-year results of the anatomic coated CFP stem in primary total hip arthroplasty. J Arthroplasty. 2013;28(6):1047-51.
- 200. Kress AM, Schmidt R, Nowak TE, Nowak M, Haeberle L, Forst R, Mueller LA. Stress-related femoral cortical and cancellous bone density loss after collum femoris preserving uncemented total hip arthroplasty: a prospective 7-year follow-up with quantitative computed tomography. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg. 2012;132(8):1111-9.
- 201. Rohrl SM, Li MG, Pedersen E, Ullmark G, Nivbrant B. Migration pattern of a short femoral neck preserving stem. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2006;448:73-8.
- 202. Steinbrück A, Grimberg AW, Elliott J, Melsheimer O, Jansson V. Short versus conventional stem in cementless total hip arthroplasty. Der Orthopäde. 2021;50(4):296-305.
- 203. Van Veghel MHW, Hannink G, Lewis PL, Holder C, Van Steenbergen LN, Schreurs BW. Short-stem hip arthroplasty in Australia and the Netherlands: a comparison of 12,680 cases between the Australian Orthopaedic Association National Joint Replacement Registry (AOANJRR) and the Dutch Arthroplasty Register (LROI). Acta Orthopaedica. 2023;94:453-9.
- 204. Van Veghel MH, Hannink G, Oldenrijk JV, Van Steenbergen LN, Schreurs BW. A comparison of uncemented short versus standard stem length in total hip arthroplasty: results from the Dutch Arthroplasty Register. 2023.
- 205. Giardina F, Castagnini F, Stea S, Bordini B, Montalti M, Toni A. Short Stems Versus Conventional Stems in Cementless Total Hip Arthroplasty: A Long-Term Registry Study. The Journal of Arthroplasty. 2018;33(6):1794-9.
- 206. Lidder S, Epstein DJ, Scott G. A systematic review of short metaphyseal loading cementless stems in hip arthroplasty. Bone Joint J. 2019;101-B(5):502-11.
- Migliorini F, Driessen A, Colarossi G, El Mansy Y, Gatz M, Tingart M, Eschweiler J. Short stems for total hip replacement among middle-aged patients. Int Orthop. 2020;44(5):847-55.
- Hauer G, Vielgut I, Amerstorfer F, Maurer-Ertl W, Leithner A, Sadoghi P. Survival Rate of Short-Stem Hip Prostheses: A Comparative Analysis of Clinical Studies and National Arthroplasty Registers. J Arthroplasty. 2018;33(6):1800-5.

- 209. Yan SG, Woiczinski M, Schmidutz TF, Weber P, Paulus AC, Steinbrück A, et al. Can the metaphyseal anchored Metha short stem safely be revised with a standard CLS stem? A biomechanical analysis. International Orthopaedics. 2017;41(12):2471-7.
- 210. Wiik AV, Brevadt M, Johal H, Logishetty K, Boughton O, Aqil A, Cobb JP. The loading patterns of a short femoral stem in total hip arthroplasty: gait analysis at increasing walking speeds and inclines. Journal of Orthopaedics and Traumatology. 2018;19(1).



Frågeformulär – Min bedömning av mina höfter

1. Vilken höft känns starkast?

🗌 Höger

🗆 Vänster

□ Höger och vänster är lika.

2. Har du smärta på höftens utsida eller i låret

| Vänster: | 🗆 Ja | □Nej |
|----------|------|------|
| Höger: | 🗆 Ja | □Nej |

3. Känns det som om höftleden glappar eller är instabil

Vänster: 🛛 Ja 🔅 Nej

Höger: 🛛 Ja 🗆 Nej

4. Vilken höft fungerar bäst?

🗆 Höger

Vänster

□ Höger och vänster är lika.